Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Long-Term Monitoring Program (Gulf Watch Alaska) Final Report

Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council Project 21120114-H Final Report

Heather Coletti National Park Service Inventory and Monitoring Program, Southwest Alaska Network 240 West 5th Avenue Anchorage, AK 99501

Dan Esler, Brenda Ballachey, Jim Bodkin, George Esslinger, Kim Kloecker, Dan Monson, Brian Robinson, and Sarah Traiger U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center 4210 University Drive Anchorage, Alaska 99508

> Katrin Iken and Brenda Konar University of Alaska Fairbanks College of Fisheries and Ocean Sciences 2150 Koyukuk Drive Fairbanks, AK 99775

> > Tom Dean Coastal Resource Associates 1948 Kellogg Avenue Carlsbad, California 92008

Mandy Lindeberg National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service, Alaska Fisheries Science Center Ted Stevens Marine Research Institute - Auke Bay Laboratories 17109 Point Lena Loop Road Juneau, Alaska 99801 Ben Weitzman U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Marine Mammals Management 1011 E. Tudor Road Anchorage, Alaska 99503

The *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council administers all programs and activities free from discrimination based on race, color, national origin, age, sex, religion, marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, or disability. The Council administers all programs and activities in compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Action of 1990, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. If you believe you have been discriminated against in any program, activity, or facility, or if you desire further information, please write to: EVOS Trustee Council, 4230 University Dr., Suite 220, Anchorage, Alaska 99508-4650, or dfg.evos.restoration@alaska.gov; or O.E.O. U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, D.C. 20240.

Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Long-Term Monitoring Program (Gulf Watch Alaska) Final Report

Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council Project 21120114-H Final Report

Heather Coletti National Park Service Inventory and Monitoring Program, Southwest Alaska Network 240 West 5th Avenue Anchorage, AK 99501

Dan Esler, Brenda Ballachey, Jim Bodkin, George Esslinger, Kim Kloecker, Dan Monson, Brian Robinson, and Sarah Traiger U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center 4210 University Drive Anchorage, Alaska 99508

> Katrin Iken and Brenda Konar University of Alaska Fairbanks College of Fisheries and Ocean Sciences 2150 Koyukuk Drive Fairbanks, AK 99775

> > Tom Dean Coastal Resource Associates 1948 Kellogg Avenue Carlsbad, California 92008

Mandy Lindeberg National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service, Alaska Fisheries Science Center Ted Stevens Marine Research Institute - Auke Bay Laboratories 17109 Point Lena Loop Road Juneau, Alaska 99801 Ben Weitzman U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Marine Mammals Management 1011 E. Tudor Road Anchorage, Alaska 99503

Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska

Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council Project 21120114-H Final Report

Study History: The nearshore ecosystem monitoring protocols implemented in 2012, at the onset of the Gulf Watch Alaska program, are based on past work of the PIs and collaborators, allowing the continuation of valuable time series information about nearshore habitats in the Gulf of Alaska. Sampling protocols originally developed for the nearshore environment that included sea otters, nearshore marine birds, intertidal kelps, seagrasses, and invertebrates in Prince William Sound in 2003 were adopted by the National Park Service's Vital Signs Long-Term Monitoring Plan and implemented in Katmai National Park and Preserve in 2006 and in Kenai Fjords National Park in 2007. In 2010, Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council Project 10100750 (J. Bodkin and T. Dean) was funded to implement a long-term nearshore monitoring plan in western Prince William Sound. Nearshore monitoring of rocky intertidal and seagrass habitats in Kachemak Bay was initiated in 2003 through the Census of Marine Life program (K. Iken and B. Konar). At the onset of Gulf Watch Alaska (2012), there were two Nearshore projects (16120114-R - Nearshore Benthic Systems in the Gulf of Alaska and 16120114-L -Ecological Trends in Kachemak Bay). The two projects worked closely from the beginning of Gulf Watch Alaska to ensure that data from all sites are as comparable as possible, allowing the strongest possible inferences about causative factors and the spatial extent of changes in nearshore systems. In 2017, the two nearshore projects integrated into a single, coordinated project (project 21120114-H) to enhance collaboration across Gulf Watch Alaska and expand upper trophic-level nearshore monitoring to Kachemak Bay. This coordinated and collaborative Nearshore Component has resulted in more than 46 peer reviewed publications, 49 reports, 97 presentations and several graduate student projects since 2012 that are either directly related to or leveraged by Gulf Watch Alaska. Numerous outreach products in the form of resource briefs, websites, social media posts and media articles also have been produced.

The nearshore ecosystem monitoring work described in this report builds on a long history of monitoring and research, some of which dates back more than 50 years. With these longer-term data streams, we have been able to document changes to nearshore marine environments and infer underlying causes earlier and with more confidence than if data had been collected during a short-term study. Importantly, these data streams are not continued in isolation, but are part of a carefully designed and coordinated nearshore monitoring program, described in detail by Dean et al. (2014) and Coletti et al. (2016), and briefly in the Introduction and Methods sections below.

Finally, it is critical to recognize the volume of *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council-funded research addressing nearshore ecosystems since the time of the spill, which has contributed to the design of the nearshore ecosystem monitoring and provided critical background for identifying changes and understanding underlying mechanisms. These research efforts are too numerous to

list individually but are summarized in recent reports and papers (e.g., Ballachey et al. 2014, Esler and Ballachey 2015, Esler et al. 2015, Coletti et al. 2016, Michel et al. 2016, Bodkin et al. 2018, Esler et al. 2018, Konar et al. 2019 and Weitzman et al. 2021).

Abstract: Nearshore ecosystem monitoring in western Prince William Sound, Kenai Fjords National Park, Kachemak Bay, and Katmai National Park and Preserve has been conducted as a single Nearshore Component of the Gulf Watch Alaska program over the past five years (2017-2021). This program builds on the previous five years and continues, in many cases, decades of preceding research and monitoring. During the 2017-2021 period of Gulf Watch Alaska, we successfully collected data on more than 200 nearshore metrics across all regions. These metrics were explicitly selected because of their value as trophically-connected features that offer insights into causes of changes through bottom-up and top-down forces within the nearshore food web. During these past 5 years, this study design has been applied to documenting and understanding several perturbations, including the Pacific Marine Heatwave and loss of sea stars due to sea star wasting. Continued monitoring will allow for a better understanding of change in nearshore ecosystems across the Gulf of Alaska and the status of spill injured resources, including greater perspective on oil spill effects and recovery relative to other types of perturbations. This information will be critical for anticipating and responding to ongoing and future changes in the region, as well as providing data for understanding global-scale variation in marine environments.

<u>Key words</u>: benthic invertebrates, black oystercatchers, Gulf of Alaska, intertidal, Kachemak Bay, Katmai National Park and Preserve, Kenai Fjords National Park, macroalgae, marine birds, monitoring, nearshore marine ecosystem, Prince William Sound, sea otters.

Project Data: The Nearshore Component has collected large quantities of data on a broad suite of nearshore ecosystem properties, species, and processes. Many of these data streams are extensions of data collection efforts that pre-date Gulf Watch Alaska. These data also reflect collaborative efforts by many agencies, entities, and individuals. As a result of these complexities, the data management challenges have been significant. During the 2017-2021 campaign, we created and instituted a revised data management plan that addressed the challenges of this complex data management task and resulted in a collection of data that are easy to find, well documented, and archived in perpetuity.

The re-vamped data management plan has a number of key elements to enhance availability and usefulness of Nearshore Component data. First, data are aggregated as much as possible. For example, data from all years and all locations are combined in a single file for a given metric, where practical. This avoids data users needing to search to find and combine all of the data that have been collected. It also assures that all of the data are in the same format, with a single metadata record that defines the contents. Notably, this includes combining data from Kachemak Bay and other Nearshore Component blocks, where possible; because Kachemak Bay started Gulf Watch Alaska as an independent project, following protocols from pre-Gulf Watch Alaska

studies, not all data sets are combinable. However, even in those cases, data on the same metrics are housed under the same heading in the Gulf of Alaska data portal (see below) to facilitate their joint use. Also, in many cases, the publicly available and archived data sets include data that were collected prior to the onset of Gulf Watch Alaska in 2012; these longer data streams are particularly valuable for understanding long-term patterns in nearshore ecosystems.

Second, all Nearshore Component data are organized and presented coherently on the publicly available Gulf of Alaska data portal. Previously, year- and location-specific data for each metric were being loaded to the data portal individually and independently, making it difficult to find and use all data related to a metric of interest. Under the current data management process, all Nearshore data can be found within a discrete section of the Gulf of Alaska data portal: https://gulf-of-alaska.portal.aoos.org/#search?type_group=all&tag|tag=evos-gulf-watch-projects&tag|tag=nearshore&page=1.

Within this, data are organized under subheadings corresponding to the main monitoring elements (e.g., Intertidal Temperature, Rocky Communities, Sea Otters, etc). Data are updated annually after QA/QC processes and review.

Finally, Nearshore Component data are being archived with approved data repositories to ensure their availability in perpetuity. The locations of archived data files, and their associated metadata, are listed in Appendix A.

The data custodian is Carol Janzen, Director of Operations and Development, Alaska Ocean Observing System, 1007 W. 3rd Ave. #100, Anchorage, AK 99501, 907-644-6703. janzen@aoos.org.

Data are archived by Axiom Data Science, a Tetra Tech Company, 1016 W. 6th Ave., Anchorage, AK 99501 and USGS, Alaska Science Center, 4210 University Drive, Anchorage, AK 99508.

Citation:

Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, G. Esslinger, K. Kloecker, D. Monson, B.
Robinson, S. Traiger, K. Iken, B. Konar, T. Dean, M. Lindeberg, and B. Weitzman. 2023.
Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill
Restoration Project 2017-2021 Final Report (Restoration Project 21120114-H), *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	4
Objectives	
Methods	
Sampling Areas	
Sampling Methods	9
Results	
Intertidal Water Temperature	
Contaminants in Mussel Tissue	
Marine Algae and Invertebrates	14
Marine Birds and Mammals	
Black Oystercatcher	
Sea Otters	
Discussion	56
Conclusions	61
Acknowledgements	61
Literature Cited	61
Other references	69
Peer-reviewed Publications	69
Reports	
Publicly available datasets	77
Scientific presentations	
Outreach	85
Appendix A	88

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Conceptual model of the nearshore food web with terrestrial and oceanic influences	
illustrated	7

Figure 3. Seasonal intertidal water temperature anomalies at the 0.5 m tide level across western Prince William Sound (WPWS; 2011-2021), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ; 2008-2021), Kachemak Bay (KBAY; 2013-2021), and Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM; 2006-2021).

Figure 8. Lottia spp. density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021.

- Figure 10. Lirabuccinum dirum density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021.
 20
- Figure 11. Nucella spp. density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay

(KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021
Figure 12. Clam density at the 0.0 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)
Figure 13. Clam biomass (grams of wet weight per 0.25 m ²) at the 0.0 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)
Figure 14. Top graph illustrates large (>= 20 mm) mussel (Mytilus trossulus) density across four regions at mussel sites
Figure 15. Density of mussel (Mytilus trossulus) recruits (2-5 mm) across four regions at mussel sites
Figure 16. Sea star species composition and density across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)
Figure 17. Overall bird species richness estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 18. Overall bird species density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 19. Black-legged kittiwake (Rissa tridactyla) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 20. Glaucous-winged gull (Larus glaucescens) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 21. Harlequin duck (Histrionicus histrionicus) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 22. Barrow's goldeneye (Bucephala islandica) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ

Figure 23. Black oystercatcher (Haematopus bachmani) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 24. Pigeon guillemot (Cepphus columba) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 25. Pelagic cormorant (Phalacrocorax pelagicus) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 26. Red-faced cormorant (Phalacrocorax urile) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 27. Horned puffin (Fratercula corniculata) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 28. Tufted puffin (Fratercula cirrhata) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 29. Common murre (Uria aalge) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 30. Brachyramphus murrelet (Brachyramphus spp.) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 31. Harbor seal (Phoca vitulina) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 32. Sea otter (Enhydra lutris) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 33. Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ
Figure 34. Black oystercatcher nest density estimates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)

Figure 35. Species composition of prey remains collected at black oystercatcher nests across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound Figure 36. Sea otter abundance estimates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)...... 46 Figure 37. Sea otter density estimates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)...... 47 Figure 38. Sea otter energy intake rates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS)...... 48 Figure 39. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in Katmai National Figure 40. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in Kachemak Bay Figure 41. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in Kenai Fjords Figure 42. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in western Prince Figure 43. Species composition of sea otter spraint in Katmai National Park and Preserve Figure 44. Species composition of sea otter spraint in Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), 2007-Figure 45. Species composition of sea otter spraint in western Prince William Sound (WPWS), Figure 46. Proportion of the age of dying sea otters in Katmai National Park and Preserve Figure 47. Proportional breakdown of age-class of the dying sea otter population in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM) and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-

Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The nearshore ecosystem marine monitoring work described in this report was designed to detect changes in abundance and distribution of numerous nearshore species, and to lend insight into underlying drivers of that change, including the relative influences of oil spill injury versus other natural or anthropogenic effects. The Gulf of Alaska (GOA) nearshore ecosystem, while strongly influenced by both oceanic and terrestrial processes and biomes, is a distinct domain, with flora and fauna adapted for existence along the coastal fringes of the north Pacific. Nearshore ecosystems are subject to numerous physical, oceanographic, and biological sources of variation and are particularly sensitive to anthropogenic perturbations. The GOA nearshore ecosystem was severely affected by the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill, and many nearshore species showed evidence of acute and chronic injury as a result of the spill.

We conducted nearshore marine ecosystem monitoring in four regions within the spill-affected area of the northern GOA: western Prince William Sound (WPWS), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM). The nearshore monitoring program focuses on sampling numerous ecosystem components in the GOA that are both numerically and functionally important, including kelps (and other marine algae), seagrasses, marine intertidal invertebrates, marine birds, black oystercatchers, sea otters, and physical properties. Our nearshore monitoring was carefully designed, with coordinated sampling of all metrics, to provide insights into drivers of change observed at different spatial and temporal scales. Our objectives were as follows:

- Determine status and detect patterns of change in a suite of nearshore species and communities.
- Identify temporal and spatial extent of observed changes.
- Identify potential causes of change in biological communities, including those related to climate change.
- Communicate these to the public and to resource managers to conserve nearshore resources.
- Continue restoration efforts to evaluate the current status of injured resources and identify factors potentially affecting present and future trends in population and ecosystem status.

During the 2017-2021 period of Gulf Watch Alaska (GWA) sampling, coupled with 2012-2016 GWA data and the data streams preceding GWA for some metrics, we observed many important and interesting patterns. For example, by mid-2014, the Pacific Marine Heatwave (PMH) was evident in intertidal waters of the northern GOA and persisted for multiple years. While pelagic marine ecosystems are known to respond to temperature anomalies, the response of nearshore ecosystems to this warming was unclear. Given that current climate change projections suggest increased frequency and duration of marine heatwaves, monitoring and understanding effects of

heatwaves on nearshore habitats is important. The GWA Nearshore Component found that rocky intertidal community structure changed following the heatwave. Macroalgal foundation species declined and there was a region-wide shift to a filter-feeder dominated state. This suggests the PMH had Gulf-wide impacts to the structure of rocky intertidal communities, although effects were muted relative to dramatic effects seen in some elements of pelagic food webs. Strong, large-scale oceanographic events, like the PMH, may override local drivers to similarly influence patterns of intertidal community structure. These results are presented in a recent synthesis paper.

Amid the recent PMH, an outbreak of sea star wasting led to dramatic declines in sea star abundance throughout the northern GOA. Because some sea stars are important predators of mussels, we investigated 1) how mussel abundance changed since the onset of sea star wasting and 2) which sea star species and temperature metrics best explained variation in mussel abundance. The PMH and sea star wasting may have created synergistic effects, with declines in macroalgae due to warm temperatures creating space for mussels and reduced star predation relaxing top-down pressure on mussels, allowing for their increased abundance. In turn, increased mussel abundance may affect nearshore biodiversity and abundance or performance of nearshore vertebrates that consume mussels. These findings are highlighted in a recent paper.

As other studies have demonstrated, the PMH disrupted marine food webs and altered species' distributions, particularly in pelagic biomes. The Nearshore Component of GWA examined shifts in marine bird community composition by evaluating spatial and temporal variation in nearshore marine bird communities in KEFJ and KATM. Irrespective of the PMH, overall bird abundance was similar between summer and winter within regions, but community composition was different between seasons, with winter communities dominated by benthic foraging sea ducks and summer communities dominated by fish-consuming seabirds. We found variation in trends of some species at the regional scale, which suggests that drivers of abundance of marine birds were not coherent across the GOA. For other species, however, the lack of variation in trends across regions may indicate Gulf-wide drivers of abundance, such as the decline in piscivorous birds following the onset of the PMH. Taken holistically, contrasting trends in a variety of species and guilds can inform science and management as to the underlying factors driving individual species' abundance and distribution. This work is presented in a recently submitted paper.

As another example of the use of GWA long-term data, we are examining responses of sea otters to changing ocean conditions. Using foraging observations and fecal remains (spraint) collected since the early-mid 2000s, we found that sea otter diets varied by region, likely as a result of habitat differences across regions. In addition to spatial differences, temporal shifts in the proportions of prey in sea otter diets were evident in some regions and were likely related to recent shifts in prey abundance. Sea stars were sometimes a significant part of sea otter diets and reached annual maximums prior to sea star declines of 14% and 10% at KATM and WPWS, respectively. However, after the sea star wasting outbreak, sea stars comprised less than 2% of

their diet in these regions. At KATM, mussels increased in observational diet data in 2015 concurrent with increased mussel abundance during the PMH. Decreased clam abundance in sea otter diets at KATM were coincident with decreasing clam biomass and increasing numbers of sea otters, suggesting that otters were near a food-dictated carrying capacity and had depleted their preferred prey. Monitoring both predator diets and prey abundance allows us to better understand nearshore ecosystem responses to perturbations across the GOA.

The spatial and temporal scales over which metrics vary provide insights on the potential drivers of observed patterns, as a consequence of the spatially-nested study design and long-term data collection. For example, intertidal community shifts were consistently observed across regions as a broad-scale response to the PMH. In contrast, sea otter density and population trends have been shown to be region-specific, due to local-scale differences in habitat quality, carrying capacity, and historical influences on sea otter populations. Our power to detect and understand variation in nearshore ecosystems increases as the timeline of data collection grows.

In addition to core monitoring work, we also have engaged in several collaborative research efforts to understand nearshore processes, leveraging the field presence facilitated by GWA. These collaborations include stable isotope analyses of nearshore communities, collection of mussels for contaminant analyses, evaluation of the prevalence of sea star wasting, and collection of clams as part of an evaluation of gene expression and other biomarkers as tools for monitoring health of nearshore ecosystems. We are working closely with researchers from Simon Fraser University on a black oystercatcher migration study, which is providing insight into seasonal movements and migration strategies. In addition to logistical support provided through the GWA program, these collaborative studies benefit from the perspective provided by long-term monitoring data. In turn, GWA benefits from clearer understanding of nearshore ecosystem processes resulting from directed research projects that are in addition to the monitoring program.

The improved understanding of nearshore ecosystem dynamics provided by our GWA monitoring has important and direct implications for natural resource management. For example, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has used our survey data for marine birds and mammals directly as part of risk assessments for vessel groundings and oil spills, both in drills and in real-world incidents. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Marine Mammals Management uses our sea otter distribution and abundance data in management documents for the species, such as stock assessments and species status assessments. The Nearshore Component annually contributes indices (such as nearshore temperature and sea star abundance anomalies) to National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Fisheries for the annual GOA Ecosystems Considerations Report to the North Pacific Fisheries Management Instruments, including Resource Stewardship Strategies, Natural Resource Condition Assessments, State of the Park Reports, and upcoming Wilderness Character assessments. For many of their marine resources of management interest, our data are the only data that exist. In addition, data from the Nearshore Component

have been used by the *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council and trustee agencies to evaluate population recovery of injured species (e.g., sea otters and harlequin ducks). Finally, Nearshore Component data have been used to inform resource management activities well beyond the GOA, including the Deepwater Horizon case and risk assessments of pipelines and tanker traffic.

This Nearshore Component scientific productivity has been exceptional, resulting in more than 46 peer reviewed publications, 49 reports, 97 presentations and several graduate student projects since 2012 that are either directly related to or leveraged by GWA. During the reporting period, numerous outreach products in the form of resource briefs, websites, social media posts and media articles also have been produced.

INTRODUCTION

Nearshore marine ecosystems face significant challenges at local, regional, and global scales, with threats arising from both adjacent lands and oceans. An example of such threats was the 1989 grounding of the *T/V Exxon Valdez* in Prince William Sound (PWS) that affected marine systems across the northern Gulf of Alaska (GOA). An important lesson arising from this event, as well as similar events around the world, was that understanding the structure and function of the ecosystem and the composition and abundance of species across multiple spatial and temporal scales is essential to damage assessments as well as responding to and managing present and anticipated threats.

Nearshore ecosystems are broadly recognized to be sensitive to a variety of natural and human disturbances on a variety of temporal and spatial scales (reviewed in Valiela 2006, Bennett et al. 2006, Dean and Bodkin 2006, Wethey et al. 2011, Vinagre et al. 2016). For example, observed changes in nearshore systems have been attributed to such diverse causes as global climate change (e.g., Barry et al. 1995, Sagarin et al. 1999, Hawkins et al. 2008, Hoegh-Guldberg and Bruno 2010, Doney et al. 2012, Kaplanis et al. 2020), earthquakes (e.g., Baxter 1971, Noda et al. 2015), oil spills (e.g., Peterson 2001, Peterson et al. 2003, Bodkin et al. 2014), human disturbance and removals (e.g., Schiel and Taylor 1999, Crain et al. 2009, Fenberg and Roy 2012), and influences of invasive species (e.g., Jamieson et al. 1998, O'Connor 2014). As an example from the northern GOA, we recently described responses of rocky intertidal communities to a prolonged Pacific marine heatwave (PMH) (Weitzman et al. 2021). Nearshore systems are especially good indicators of change because organisms in the nearshore are relatively sedentary, accessible, and manipulable (e.g., Dayton 1971, Sousa 1979, Peterson 1993, Lewis 1996, Chemello et al. 2018). In contrast to other marine habitats, there is a comparatively thorough understanding of mechanistic links between species and their physical environment (e.g., Connell 1972, Paine 1974, 1977, Estes et al. 1998, Menge and Menge 2013, Menge et al. 2015) that facilitates understanding causes for change. Many of the organisms in the nearshore are sessile or have limited home ranges, providing a geographic context to sources of change. Nearshore habitats will undoubtedly have detectable levels of change in the future, and our monitoring design will allow us to discern local from regional sources of change, tease apart

human induced from naturally induced changes, and provide opportunities for management actions to reduce human induced impacts or mitigate natural variation.

The overarching goal of the Nearshore Component of the Gulf Watch Alaska (GWA) long-term monitoring program has been to understand drivers of variation across the nearshore food web in the GOA (see Fig. 1). The foundational questions of the Nearshore Component include: (1) What is the current structure of the GOA nearshore ecosystems, and what are the spatial and temporal scales over which change is observed? (2) Are observed changes caused by broad-scale environmental variation, local perturbations, or both? (3) Does the magnitude and timing of changes in nearshore ecosystems correspond to those measured in pelagic ecosystems? The design features of the Nearshore Component include a rigorous site selection process that allows statistical inference over various spatial scales (e.g., GOA and regions within the GOA) as well as the capacity to evaluate potential impacts from more localized sources, and especially those resulting from human activities, including lingering effects of the Exxon Valdez oil spill (EVOS). In addition to detecting change at various spatial scales, design features incorporate both static (e.g., substrate, exposure, bathymetry) and dynamic (e.g., variation in oceanographic conditions, productivity, and predation) drivers as potential mechanisms responsible for change. More than 200 species dependent on nearshore habitats, many with well recognized ecological roles in the nearshore food web (Fig. 1), are monitored annually within four regional blocks in the GOA. Evaluation of change in those species over time in relation to well defined static and dynamic drivers allows accurate and defensible measures of change and supports management and policy needs addressing nearshore resources.

Harnessing the power of long-term datasets, several of the GWA Nearshore Component's data streams are continuations from preceding time series, some reaching as far back as 1971 (Calkins 1978). Building GWA monitoring on this legacy has resulted in many important insights and management-relevant findings thanks to longer time series. As an example, decades of data on sea otter population dynamics, including GWA data, have revealed patterns of change in abundance that differ among regions. Changes in sea otter abundance are driven largely by local conditions, although drivers may vary by location (e.g., recovery from the EVOS in PWS, recolonization following fur harvest in Katmai and Kachemak Bay, and prey availability in Kenai Fjords; Bodkin 2015, Coletti et al. 2016, Davis et al. 2019, Tinker et al. 2021). In contrast, our regionally explicit monitoring design allowed us to show that broader-scale drivers were important in other nearshore processes. Data on rocky intertidal communities indicated that static physical attributes did not differ markedly across regions, and neither did intertidal biota (Konar et al. 2016), findings that have subsequently been confirmed in other regions of the world (Hacker et al. 2019). Similarly, we observed losses of sea stars, important nearshore predators, and the emergence of sea star wasting coincided with onset of warming trends across all regions (Konar et al. 2019). During the recent PMH, our long-term monitoring data from the rocky intertidal indicated synchronous shifts in community structure across all four regions, indicating that the PMH perturbation was a stronger driver of community structure than local-scale factors

(Weitzman et al. 2021). The accumulated work of the GWA Nearshore Component shows that we have implemented a powerful monitoring program that is able to detect ecological impacts on relevant spatial and temporal scales. The conceptual framework for monitoring in the nearshore that was implemented in 2006 contains the following key elements:

- 1. Synoptic sampling of select physical parameters (e.g., temperature and salinity) over the GOA nearshore regions. This synoptic nearshore sampling is complemented by offshore measurements in the GOA through the Environmental Drivers Component of the GWA program.
- 2. Sampling of diverse species and a variety of specific biological parameters (e.g., abundance and size of intertidal organisms, abundance, productivity, and diet of selected marine birds and mammals) in all four GOA nearshore regions. Because nearshore habitats and species were disproportionately affected by the EVOS, this monitoring includes many resources that were injured by the EVOS, allowing perspective on natural variation relative to oil-spill injury.
- 3. The hierarchical sampling design allows us to test patterns on both temporal and spatial scales. For example, nearshore communities are sampled annually with replicates along various tidal strata at multiple sites within a region, and across four regions (Katmai National Park and Preserve [KATM], Kachemak Bay [KBAY], Kenai Fjords National Park [KEFJ], and western Prince William Sound [WPWS]).
- 4. The design is focused explicitly on the nearshore food web, where primary productivity originates largely in the kelps, other macroalgae and seagrass, is transferred to benthic invertebrates, and then to higher trophic levels (Fig. 1).
- 5. Coordination with externally funded, short-term (2-5 years) studies aimed at identifying important processes regulating, causing, or reflecting changes within a given system or subsystem.



Figure 1. Conceptual model of the nearshore food web with terrestrial and oceanic influences illustrated. In this model, sea otters, black oystercatchers, sea ducks and sea stars act as the top-level consumers in a system where primary productivity originates mostly from macroalgae and sea grass and moves through benthic invertebrates to top level consumers.

Building on historic data, including our first five years of GWA Nearshore monitoring, we continued to generate consistently collected, long-term ecological data during 2017-2021. The value to science, conservation, and resource management of extended, multispecies ecological time series is becoming increasingly apparent (Hughes et al. 2017). We capitalized on the first decade of available data on nearshore ecosystem structure by synthesizing existing data and conducting select process studies that explained biological and environmental relationships. We had a demonstrated record of leveraging our GWA work with other projects for added value and will continue to do so. The existing and continually accumulated information was synthesized with other components of GWA to identify potential causes and scales of change, including those related to EVOS and climate change. An excellent recent example of such synthesis is our Nearshore Component contribution to the GOA-wide synthesis on ecosystem changes resulting from the PMH (Suryan et al. 2021).

OBJECTIVES

1. To determine status and detect patterns of change in a suite of nearshore species and communities.

2. Identify temporal and spatial extent of observed changes.

3. Identify potential causes of change in biological communities, including those related to climate change.

4. Communicate these to the public and to resource managers to preserve nearshore resources.

5. Continue restoration monitoring in the nearshore in order to evaluate the current status of injured resources in oiled areas and identify factors potentially affecting present and future trends in population status.

METHODS

Sampling Areas

The design focuses on monitoring numerous components of the nearshore marine food web in KATM, KEFJ, WPWS, and KBAY (Fig. 2).

Most vital sign metrics are monitored on an annual basis; however, for some metrics less frequent sampling occurs. Sampling frequency was determined based on the expected extent of inter-annual variation for a given metric as well as cost and logistical constraints. For example, the species distribution and abundance of intertidal invertebrates that are known to exhibit high inter-annual variation are sampled either annually or bi-annually whereas less variable contaminant levels in mussel tissue are monitored every 7 to 10 years.

The number and location of sampling units differs among metrics, but in general the design calls for sampling at multiple sites within each region. The number of sampling locations and the rationale for this are specified in vital sign specific standard operating procedures (SOPs), but in general were guided by preliminary estimates of effort required to detect ecologically meaningful levels of change (e.g., Dean and Bodkin 2006). Sampling sites were selected to provide a random, spatially balanced distribution. The design allows for detection of large temporal or spatial-scale changes (e.g., changes that may occur over the entire region over time or among blocks). For some metrics (e.g., contaminants in mussels) the design will also allow for detection of changes that may occur on a more localized scale (e.g., at a site of heavy human influence).



Figure 2. Map of the northern Gulf of Alaska (GOA) and the four study regions within the Nearshore Component: KATM (Katmai National Park and Preserve), KBAY (Kachemak Bay), KEFJ (Kenai Fjords National Park), and WPWS (western Prince William Sound).

Sampling Methods

Nearshore Component monitoring protocols (Dean and Bodkin 2006, Rigby et al. 2007, Iken and Konar 2012, Dean et al. 2014) describe the design and approach for sampling key components of the nearshore system in the GOA that are both numerically and functionally important to the system's health, including many that were injured by the EVOS, as well as several key environmental drivers. Components measured include kelps (and other marine algae) and seagrasses, marine intertidal invertebrates, marine birds, black oystercatchers, sea otters, and physical attributes of seawater. The rationale for focusing on these components of the nearshore is summarized below, with detailed descriptions in foundational documents (Bennett et al. 2006, Dean et al. 2014). Monitoring has followed the same SOPs that have been established from the onset of, and in many cases prior to, the GWA Nearshore program to ensure consistency of data streams. SOPs describe methods in greater detail than provided here, with links to published SOPs provided below each monitoring metric.

Objectives 1-3: Nearshore Component protocol narrative (Rigby et al. 2007, Iken and Konar 2012, Dean et al. 2014): <u>https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/488741</u>

1) Marine water chemistry and water quality, including temperature and salinity, are critical to intertidal fauna and flora and are likely to be important determinants of both long-term and short-term fluctuations in the intertidal biotic community. Basic water chemistry parameters, such as temperature, provide a record of environmental conditions at the time of sampling and are used in assessing the condition of biological assemblages. Water quality (including water temperature, salinity, and levels of contaminants such as heavy metals and organic pollutants) are also critical in structuring nearshore marine ecosystems and can cause both acute and chronic changes in nearshore populations and communities.

SOP for water quality monitoring (Dean and Bodkin 2011a): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428529

Methods for water temperature monitoring (Weitzman et al. 2021): https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmars.2021.556820/full

2) Kelp, other algae, and seagrass are "living habitats" that serve as a nutrient filter, provide food, habitat, and physical structure for fish, clams, urchins, and other invertebrates, and provide spawning and nursery habitats for forage fish and juvenile crustaceans. Kelps and other algae are also the major primary producers in the marine nearshore and because they are located in shallow water they can be significantly impacted by human activities. These include spills of oil or other contaminants, dredging and disturbance from anchoring of vessels, and increased turbidity caused by runoff of sediments or nutrients.

SOP for rocky intertidal site monitoring in KEFJ, KATM and WPWS (Dean and Bodkin 2011a): <u>https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428529</u>

SOP for rocky intertidal site monitoring in KBAY (Rigby et al. 2007, Iken and Konar 2012): <u>https://workspace.aoos.org/published/file/fa30bafb-3fc8-439f-b144-</u> <u>lfc225be6ba7/SOP_EcologicalTrendsInKachemakBay.pdf?source=catalog&portalId=8</u>

SOP for eelgrass bed monitoring in KBAY (Iken and Konar 2012): <u>https://workspace.aoos.org/published/file/fa30bafb-3fc8-439f-b144-</u> <u>lfc225be6ba7/SOP_EcologicalTrendsInKachemakBay.pdf?source=catalog&portalId=8</u>

3) Marine intertidal invertebrates provide critical food resources for shorebirds, sea ducks, fish, bears, sea otters, and other marine invertebrate predators. Benthic invertebrates are ecologically diverse in terms of habitat, have a wide range of physiological tolerances, are relatively sedentary, and have varied life-histories. As a result, they are good biological indicators of both short-term (e.g., annual) and long-term (e.g., decadal scale) changes in environmental conditions.

SOP for rocky intertidal site monitoring in KEFJ, KATM and WPWS (Dean and Bodkin 2011a): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428529

SOP for rocky intertidal site monitoring in KBAY (Konar and Iken 2012): https://workspace.aoos.org/published/file/fa30bafb-3fc8-439f-b144-1fc225be6ba7/SOP EcologicalTrendsInKachemakBay.pdf?source=catalog&portalId=8

SOP for mixed sediment invertebrate sampling in all 4 regions (Weitzman et al. 2017): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/577315

SOP for mussel bed sampling in all 4 regions (Bodkin et al. 2016): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/548246

4) Marine birds are predators near the top of marine nearshore food webs. Marine birds are longlived, conspicuous, abundant, and widespread members of the marine ecosystem and are sensitive to change. Because of these characteristics marine birds are good indicators of change in the marine ecosystem. Studies have documented that their behavior, diet, productivity, and survival change as environmental conditions change. Public concern exists for the welfare of marine birds because they are affected by human activities like oil pollution and commercial fishing.

SOP for marine bird and mammal surveys (Bodkin 2011a): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428463

5) Black oystercatchers specifically are well suited for inclusion into a long-term monitoring program of nearshore habitats because they are long-lived; reside and rely on intertidal habitats; consume a diet dominated by mussels, limpets, and chitons; and provision chicks near nest sites for extended periods. Additionally, as a conspicuous species sensitive to disturbance, the black oystercatcher would likely serve as a sentinel species in detecting change in the nearshore community resulting from human or other disturbances.

SOP for black oystercatcher data collection (Bodkin 2011b): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428462

6) Sea otters are keystone species that can dramatically affect the structure and complexity of their nearshore ecological community. They cause well described top-down cascading effects on community structure by altering abundance of prey (e.g., sea urchins), which can in turn alter abundance of lower trophic levels (e.g., kelps). Sea otters generally have smaller home ranges than other marine mammals; eat large amounts of food; are susceptible to contaminants such as those related to oil spills; and have broad appeal to the public. Recent declines in sea otters have been observed in the Aleutian Islands. Currently declines are documented in areas approaching the western edge of our study area. As a result of these declines, the southwestern Alaska stock

of sea otters (which includes those in KATM), was federally listed as threatened in September 2005 under the Endangered Species Act.

SOP for Sea otter carcass surveys (Dean and Bodkin 2011b): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428528

SOP for sea otter forage data collection (Bodkin 2011c): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428470

SOP for sea otter abundance estimation (aerial surveys) (Bodkin 2011d): https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/DownloadFile/428467

RESULTS

Intertidal Water Temperature

Intertidal water temperature in all four Nearshore Component monitoring regions showed a warming trend beginning in 2014 and persisting across all regions through 2016; warming continued into 2017 in WPWS and KEFJ (Fig. 3). These results confirmed that the 2014-2016 marine heatwave in the Gulf of Alaska affected intertidal zones. While temperatures had appeared to cool and return to normal across all regions in late 2017 and 2018, 2019 indicated warmer than average water temperatures in the intertidal zone across all four study regions and a cooling during the early part of 2020, particularly in the western blocks of KBAY and KATM. Temperatures appeared to return to the long-term average across all regions early in 2021, followed by cooling across all regions into the summer months of 2021.



Figure 3. Seasonal intertidal water temperature anomalies at the 0.5 m tide level across western Prince William Sound (WPWS; 2011-2021), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ; 2008-2021), Kachemak Bay (KBAY; 2013-2021), and Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM; 2006-2021). Long tick marks indicate the start of the calendar year (January) while short tick marks are quarterly divisions within the year (April, July, October).

Contaminants in Mussel Tissue

In 2018, we collected mussels for analysis of a broad suite of contaminants across all four Nearshore Component monitoring regions. This work is not conducted annually but rather is slated to occur every 8 years unless a contaminant-specific issue emerges. In 2019, we received results from the laboratory analysis conducted by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA); we note that these analyses were conducted following protocols for the Mussel Watch program, ensuring comparability to other times and places. In fact, results from these analyses were combined with those from other locations in the northern GOA. Results indicate that there were no significant contaminant concerns within our study areas in 2018 (Rider et al. 2020).

Marine Algae and Invertebrates

We examined rocky intertidal community structure at 21 sites across our four regions, spanning 1,200 km of coastline. Sites were monitored annually at mid and low tidal strata. Before the PMH (2012-2014), community structure differed among regions. During and after the PMH (2015-2019), we found that macroalgal foundation species declined across the study regions. The GOA-wide shift from a macroalgal dominated rocky intertidal to a filter-feeder dominated state concurrent with the changing environmental conditions associated with a marine heatwave event suggests the PMH had Gulf-wide impacts to the structure of rocky intertidal communities. Similarities in community structure increased across regions, leading to a greater homogenization of these communities (Fig. 4). This was due to declines in macroalgal cover, driven mostly by a decline in the rockweed, *Fucus distichus*, and fleshy red algae in 2015, followed by an increase in barnacle cover in 2016, and an increase in mussel cover in 2017 (Figs. 5 and 6). Strong, large-scale oceanographic events, like the PMH, may override local drivers to similarly influence patterns of intertidal community structure at broader scales. These results are presented in a recent synthesis paper (Weitzman et al. 2021).



Figure 4. Shannon Wiener Diversity Index at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation relative to mean lower low water (MLLW) across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 5. Percent cover of Mytilus trossulus, barnacles, Fucus distichus, kelps, and bare substrate at the 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021.



Figure 6. Percent cover of Mytilus trossulus, barnacles, Fucus distichus, kelps, and bare substrate at the 1.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021.

Lottia persona densities are estimated at a set "limpet line" which is established in the upper intertidal zone within 3 of the 4 regions at each randomly selected rocky intertidal site. *Lottia persona* density appeared stable across KEFJ and KATM, with more variability at WPWS (Fig. 7).



Figure 7. Lottia persona density at the limpet line across three of the Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2010-2021. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.

Sampling of rocky intertidal sites also includes estimating density of several mobile invertebrates along the 0.5 m and 1.5 m tidal elevations at all 4 regions and includes *Lottia* spp., *Katharina tunicata, Lirabuccinum dirum*, and *Nucella* spp. Densities appear to vary by region, indicating that local-scale drivers may dictate motile invertebrate community structure (Figs. 8-11). Further work is being conducted by a graduate student at University of Alaska Fairbanks to analyze these data in response to sea star wasting and the PMH.



Figure 8. Lottia spp. density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 9. Katharina tunicata density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 10. Lirabuccinum dirum density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 11. Nucella spp. density at the at the 1.5 m and 0.5 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.

Infaunal bivalves are sampled in intertidal mixed sediment habitats every other year in all regions. Estimates of clam biomass, density, and species distribution indicate that *Macoma* spp. numerically dominate the clam community across all four regions (Fig. 12). However, because of their much larger size, the less abundant *Saxidomous gigantea* contributes a significant portion of the overall clam biomass in KATM and to a lesser degree, KBAY (Fig. 13). Clams are generally more abundant at KATM and have higher biomass at KATM and KBAY than other regions (Figs. 12 and 13).



Figure 12. Clam density at the 0.0 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Sampling is done every other year and began in 2009 in KATM and KEFJ (KATM was not sampled in 2011), in 2011 in WPWS and 2013 in KBAY.



Figure 13. Clam biomass (grams of wet weight per 0.25 m²) at the 0.0 m tidal elevation across the four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Sampling is done every other year and began in 2009 in KATM and KEFJ (KATM was not sampled in 2011), in 2011 in WPWS, and 2013 in KBAY.

Specific mussel beds are sampled at each site within each region every year. Large mussel densities (≥ 20 mm) showed an overall positive trend across all regions consistent with timing of the marine heatwave through 2019 (Fig. 14). In 2021, it appears that large mussel density returned to the long-term average across all regions. Overall mussel density and density of 2-5 mm mussels, both indicators of recruitment, showed declines concurrent with the PMH with subsequent increases in recent years (Figs. 14 and 15). This is an opposite pattern to the large mussels, indicating that drivers of recruitment and survival may be operating at different spatial and temporal scales (Bodkin et al. 2018). Evaluation of drivers of mussel abundance, specifically variation in temperature and sea star abundance, was the subject of a recent Nearshore Component synthesis paper (Traiger et al. 2022).


Figure 14. Top graph illustrates large (>= 20 mm) mussel (Mytilus trossulus) density across four regions at mussel sites. The bottom graph illustrates the overall density (>= 2 mm). Note: The y-axis for the densities is different, with the overall density significantly larger (x10⁴). Sampling started in 2008 in Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Kachemak Bay (KBAY) mussel bed sampling began in 2012. Error bars indicate ±1SE.



Figure 15. Density of mussel (Mytilus trossulus) recruits (2-5 mm) across four regions at mussel sites. Note: The y-axis is $(x10^4)$. Sampling started in 2008 in Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Kachemak Bay (KBAY) mussel bed sampling began in 2012. Error bars indicate ±1SE.

Sea star abundance, density, and diversity varied greatly among regions through 2015. Between 2015 and 2017, abundance declined and remained low across all regions through 2018, likely due to sea star wasting (Konar et al. 2019). In 2019, there was some recruitment and recovery in WPWS, which persisted through 2020. However, the sea star species thought to be least affected by sea star wasting in the northern GOA (primarily Henricia and Dermasterias) continued to be present and accounted for the positive anomalies. The positive trend in WPWS and KEFJ during 2020 surveys was driven by high numbers of Dermasterias (81% and 88% of observed sea stars, respectively). The previously dominant sea stars (primarily Pvcnopodia, Evasterias, and Pisaster) continued to be absent (or rare) in many of the Nearshore Component monitoring regions, although one site in WPWS in 2020 showed some recovery potential with many small Pycnopodia. However, in 2021 all regions except KATM again were trending downward (Fig. 16). The sea star species documented in KATM that accounted for the positive trends were primarily Evasterias (53%), Pisaster (35%) and Pycnopodia (10%), indicating a potential recovery of sea stars along the KATM coast but not elsewhere across the Gulf. This may help explain the slightly negative trend in large mussel density observed in KATM in 2021 (Fig. 14) but fails to explain this pattern elsewhere in the GOA.



Figure 16. Sea star species composition and density across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS).

Marine Birds and Mammals

Nearshore skiff surveys, conducted along transects that encompass 200 m swaths along shore, have generated long-term monitoring data since 2006 in KATM, 2007 in KEFJ, and 2018 in KBAY. For those birds and mammals that also regularly use habitats farther offshore, our results represent only the nearshore portion of their distribution. We present trends through 2021 in overall bird species richness (Fig. 17), overall marine bird density (Fig. 18) and a variety of marine bird and mammal species (Figs. 19-33). In general, bird abundance was similar between summer and winter within regions, but community composition was different between seasons with higher species richness at KEFJ in the summer. Winter coastal marine communities were characterized by a marked increase in benthic foragers and highlights the importance of

nearshore coastal resources to sea ducks that primarily breed in the interior of Alaska but migrate to the coast in winter. Summer marine coastal communities were generally found to support large numbers of forage fish consumers as colonies, absent of marine birds in the winter, were occupied in the summer. We found variation in trends in density of some species at the regional scale, which suggests that drivers of abundance of marine birds are not coherent across the GOA. For other species, however, the lack of variation in trends in density across regions may indicate Gulf-wide drivers of abundance. Taken holistically, contrasting trends in a variety of species and guilds can inform as to the underlying factors driving individual species' abundance and distribution. A paper discussing seasonal, spatial, and temporal variation, including effects of the PMH, in marine bird communities of KEFJ and KATM is underway (Robinson et al. in review).



Figure 17. Overall bird species richness estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ.



Figure 18. Overall bird species density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 19. Black-legged kittiwake (Rissa tridactyla) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 20. Glaucous-winged gull (Larus glaucescens) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 21. Harlequin duck (Histrionicus histrionicus) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 22. Barrow's goldeneye (Bucephala islandica) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 23. Black oystercatcher (Haematopus bachmani) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 24. Pigeon guillemot (Cepphus columba) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 25. Pelagic cormorant (Phalacrocorax pelagicus) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 26. Red-faced cormorant (Phalacrocorax urile) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 27. Horned puffin (Fratercula corniculata) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 28. Tufted puffin (Fratercula cirrhata) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 29. Common murre (Uria aalge) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 30. Brachyramphus murrelet (Brachyramphus spp.) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.

The following figures are of marine mammals observed during our systematic skiff-based, shoreline surveys. These density estimates include counts from haulouts, when encountered. As with many of the bird species, regional differences exist (Figs. 31-33), likely driven by habitat. Sea otter density estimate differences between the skiff-based and aerial survey data are currently being explored that may help answer how and why populations vary in terms of density (Figs. 32 and 37).



Figure 31. Harbor seal (Phoca vitulina) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 32. Sea otter (Enhydra lutris) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 33. Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus) density estimates in summer (top) in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), and Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) and winter (bottom) in KATM and KEFJ. Error bars indicate ±1SE.

Black Oystercatcher

Black oystercatcher *(Haematopus bachmani)* nest density appeared to be variable within and across all four regions with no discernable response to the PMH (Fig. 34), unlike the survey results from the marine bird and mammal surveys, which indicated a positive trend coincident with the PMH and increased prey availability (Fig. 21). We interpret this to suggest that establishment of nests is driven by factors other than food availability, such as availability of nest sites and environmental conditions during nonbreeding periods. This is further supported by the lack of response in the black oystercatcher diet to the PMH. Limpets continued to dominate diet of black oystercatcher chicks across all four regions (Fig 35).



Figure 34. Black oystercatcher nest density estimates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 35. Species composition of prey remains collected at black oystercatcher nests across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS).

Sea Otters

Sea otter *(Enhydra lutris)* abundance has been stable in KEFJ since 2006 and stable in KATM in recent years after achieving carrying capacity following re-occupation (Coletti et al. 2016). The sea otter population in KBAY also appears to have been stable since 2012, after a rapid increase in abundance since the early 2000s (Garlich-Miller et al. 2018). Survey data from WPWS show increasing trends through 2011, resulting from recovery from the EVOS, and generally stable numbers since (Esslinger et al. 2021) (Figs. 36 and 37).



Figure 36. Sea otter abundance estimates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.



Figure 37. Sea otter density estimates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.

Sea otter responses to changing ocean conditions associated with the PMH may have resulted in shifts in diet but not in energy intake rates (EIR) (Fig. 38). Across the sea otter's range, numerous studies have documented that energy intake rates around 4-6 kcal/min are indicative of populations that are near a food-dictated carrying capacity. Across all four Nearshore Component study regions, EIR have stabilized at levels that suggest sea otters are at or near carrying capacity (Fig. 38). It is noteworthy that, despite EIR evidence of populations near carrying capacity in all regions, abundance and density estimates of sea otters differ widely among regions (Figs. 36 and 37). We interpret this as a consequence of differing habitat quality, likely resulting from differing bathymetry and substrate, and thus prey availability, across our different study regions (Coletti et al. 2016).



Figure 38. Sea otter energy intake rates across all four Gulf Watch Alaska regions: Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), Kachemak Bay (KBAY), Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), and western Prince William Sound (WPWS). Error bars indicate $\pm 1SE$.

Monitoring both predator diets and prey abundance allows us to better understand nearshore ecosystem processes and responses to perturbations across the GOA. Foraging observations and fecal (spraint) composition data have been used to examine spatial and temporal variation in sea otter diet across the GOA since the early-mid 2000s. Based on foraging observations, clams dominated sea otter diet in KATM and WPWS, while in KEFJ mussels dominated. In KBAY, clam and mussel contributions were similar based on foraging observations. In addition to spatial differences, temporal shifts in the proportions of prey in sea otter diets were evident in some regions and were likely related to shifts in prey abundance. At KATM, mussels increased in observational data in 2015 concurrent with increased mussel abundance in the nearshore system. Decreased clams in sea otter diets at KATM were coincident with decreasing clam biomass and increasing numbers of sea otters, suggesting that otters were near a food-dictated carrying capacity (Figs. 38-42).



Figure 39. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), 2006-2021.



Figure 40. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in Kachemak Bay (KBAY), 2017-2021.



Figure 41. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ) 2007-2021.



Figure 42. Species composition of sea otter prey from foraging observations in western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2007-2021.

Spraint data, reflecting winter/spring diet offer a different window into sea otter diet composition. At KATM, clams predominate the diet of sea otters, reflected in their presence in 77% of spraint sampled. The presence of clams in spraint averaged 88% prior to 2014 and declined to 67% after the PMH. Concurrently, the presence of mussels increased from 22% to 59% during these same time periods, indicating a response to the change in mussel abundance (Fig. 43). At KEFJ mussels were the dominant prey type identified from spraint, averaging 80% presence over all years (Fig. 44). In WPWS, clams were the predominate prey in 16 of 20 years, averaging 60% presence. Mussels were the second most prevalent prey type, present on average in 53% of the spraint observed. Crab and urchin were also often detected in WPWS spraint, averaging 34% and 25% respectively, while urchins were rarely found in other regions (Fig. 45).



Figure 43. Species composition of sea otter spraint in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM), 2006-2021.



Figure 44. Species composition of sea otter spraint in Kenai Fjords National Park (KEFJ), 2007-2021.



Figure 45. Species composition of sea otter spraint in western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 1997-2021.

Age-at-death data have been shown to be another useful metric for understanding sea otter population status (e.g., Monson et al. 2000). Data from KATM did not meet the expectation that typical "natural" sea otter mortality is age-dependent, with juveniles and older adults being the major components of the age-at-death structure of the population (Kenyon, 1969, Monson et al. 2000). Instead, data from KATM indicated high proportions of mortality among prime-aged animals based on carcass data (Figs. 46 and 47). With additional research, we found a non-age-specific mortality factor at work, specifically brown bear predation, resulting in a recent publication (Monson et al. 2022).



Figure 46. Proportion of the age of dying sea otters in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM) vs. western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Blue bars represent age 0-1 (juveniles), orange bars represent age 2-8 (prime age), and grey bars represent 8+ year old animals (aged animals).



Figure 47. Proportional breakdown of age-class of the dying sea otter population in Katmai National Park and Preserve (KATM) and western Prince William Sound (WPWS), 2006-2021. Notice the high proportion of prime age animals in the KATM population.

DISCUSSION

Long-term data generated by the Nearshore Component of GWA have proven to be valuable for detecting and evaluating disturbances to marine ecosystems of the northern GOA, including the Pacific marine heatwave, sea star wasting, and recovery from the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. Our findings provide important perspectives on factors affecting coastal marine communities that are important to the GOA ecosystem as well as to the human communities that depend on them. In addition, our improved understanding of nearshore marine ecosystems allows clearer predictions about how future variation, both anticipated (such as climate change) and unanticipated, may affect nearshore environments.

During 2017-2021, we successfully completed the Nearshore Component monitoring element of GWA. Importantly, this period was the first in which all Nearshore Component work was merged under a single project, combining work in KBAY with that of KATM, KEFJ, and WPWS regions. This helped continue and strengthen existing collaborations, resulting in even greater geographic coverage when considering factors influencing intertidal communities. In addition, higher-trophic level monitoring (e.g., marine bird and mammal surveys, black

oystercatcher nest monitoring, sea otter foraging observations) that was regularly conducted in KATM, KEFJ, and WPWS also was instituted in KBAY during this period. The addition of higher-trophic level work allows for a full food-web consideration of factors that influence each region and greater power to evaluate causes and consequences of changes observed at the scale of the northern Gulf of Alaska.

Although the COVID-19 global pandemic affected our ability to conduct field work, particularly in summer 2020, we collected data throughout the period and have found that some data gaps can be compensated through the full timeline of data collection. Because many of the data streams pre-date GWA, resulting in longer timelines, the consequence of the loss of some data collection due to the pandemic is reduced.

We evaluated effects of a major and unanticipated phenomenon, the PMH, as part of the GWA Nearshore Component sampling and analysis efforts during the 2017-2021 period. Significant changes to the physical conditions of marine ecosystems are widely recognized to have bottom-up effects that transmit through pelagic and nearshore food webs (e.g., Anderson and Piatt 1999, Harley et al. 2006). Because of the magnitude of the PMH, marine monitoring should be expected to detect the physical phenomenon and subsequent biological responses; GWA generally and the Nearshore Component specifically met that expectation. Given that current climate change projections suggest increased frequency and duration of marine heatwaves (Frölicher et al. 2018), monitoring and understanding impacts of heatwaves on nearshore ecosystems is important.

Temperature increases associated with the PMH were documented in intertidal waters of the northern GOA and persisted for multiple years in all our study regions, as documented in a recent paper including Nearshore Component authors (Danielson et al. 2022). As one aspect of our considerations of subsequent biological effects, we examined rocky intertidal community structure across all Nearshore Component study regions. Before the PMH (2012-2014), community structure differed among regions, presumably reflecting region-specific static and dynamic drivers of intertidal community composition. During and after the PMH (2015-2019), we found that macroalgal species declined across all regions. Observed Gulf-wide shifts from an autotroph-macroalgal dominated rocky intertidal to a heterotroph- filter-feeder dominated state illustrate important changes that our monitoring program was able to detect. As a result of the coherent Gulf-wide changes to the structure of rocky intertidal communities, there was homogenization of these communities at relatively large scales. We conclude that strong, large-scale oceanographic events, like the PMH, may override local drivers to similarly influence patterns of intertidal community structure across regions. These results are presented in a recent synthesis paper (Weitzman et al. 2021).

Because of the food web-based design of the nearshore monitoring program, we were able to evaluate responses of upper trophic-level nearshore-reliant species (such as sea stars, sea otters and benthic-feeding marine birds) to observed shifts in community structure across the Gulf of Alaska (Weitzman et al. 2021). For example, sea stars are keystone predators in nearshore habitats, affecting communities through their predation on primary space holders such as mussels. Amid the recent PMH, an outbreak of sea star wasting (SSW) led to dramatic declines in sea star abundance throughout the northern GOA, documented through our Nearshore Component monitoring (Konar et al. 2019). Following up on results of Konar et al. (2019), we investigated 1) how mussel abundance changed since the onset of SSW and 2) which sea star species and temperature metrics best explain variation in mussel abundance. Star abundance, mussel percent cover, density of large mussels, and density of mussels of all sizes from core samples were surveyed approximately annually at KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, and WPWS. At KATM, KBAY, and KEFJ star abundance declined 40 – 100% after SSW. Mussel cover increased above the long-term mean 1-3 years after declines in star abundance at KATM, KBAY, and KEFJ, but not at WPWS. Large mussel abundance increased to 65% above the longterm mean at KATM after SSW. Large mussel abundance increased slightly at KBAY but did not increase at KEFJ or WPWS. Mussel abundance from cores, which included recruits, did not differ before and after the onset of SSW. Pisaster ochraceus and Pycnopodia helianthoides abundance and winter and spring temperatures together explained 22.4% of variation in the mussel metrics. The PMH and SSW outbreak may have created synergistic effects, with declines in macroalgae due to warm temperatures opening available space for mussels and then reduced star predation relaxed top-down pressure on mussels allowing for their increased abundance. These relationships are described in detail in a recent synthesis paper (Traiger et al. 2022). We note that, in turn, increased mussel abundance may affect nearshore biodiversity and abundance or performance of nearshore vertebrates that consume mussels (Bodkin et al. 2018).

As another example of Nearshore Component upper tropic level work that evaluates effects of the PMH, we used skiff survey data collected from 2006-2021 in KEFJ and KATM to examine shifts in marine bird community composition by evaluating spatial and temporal variation in nearshore marine bird communities. Specifically, we tested for differences in community composition between regions (KEFJ vs. KATM) and season (summer vs. winter) and evaluated nearshore marine bird community trends before and after the onset of the PMH. We also examined temporal trends across foraging guilds to examine whether effects of the PMH on birds were related to their prey type (e.g., forage fish versus benthic invertebrates). Overall, we found that bird abundance was similar between summer and winter within regions, but community composition was very different between seasons. For example, winter coastal marine bird communities were characterized by a marked increase in benthic foragers and highlights the importance of nearshore coastal resources to sea ducks that primarily breed in the interior of Alaska but migrate to the coast in winter. Summer marine bird communities were generally dominated by forage fish consumers at colonies. We found variation in abundance related to the PMH as an interaction with prey type. Specifically, we found that consumers of benthic invertebrates (e.g., black oystercatchers, sea ducks) had generally stable trends in abundance, consistent with the general stability in their prey base. However, birds that are members of the pelagic biome, consuming zooplankton or forage fish, tended to show differences in abundance

associated with the PMH. These were in the form of either declines, which we interpreted as a result of lack of prey, or increases in nearshore habitats, which we interpreted as a side effect of greatly reduced colony attendance due to reproductive failure and subsequent occurrence in our nearshore transects during atypical foraging activities. These patterns are described in detail in a recently submitted paper by Nearshore Component authors (Robinson et al. in review).

Sea otter response to changing ocean conditions associated with the PMH may have resulted in shifts in diet but not in abundance. As described in the Results section, sea otters eat a large variety of invertebrate prey, with clams and mussels as important components of their diet, the proportions in the diet depending on habitat. In addition to spatial differences, temporal shifts in sea otter composition were evident in some regions and were likely related to recent shifts in prey abundance. Sea stars were sometimes a significant component of diets and reached maximums of 14% and 10% at KATM and WPWS, respectively. However, after the SSW outbreak, sea stars represented less than 2% of diet in these regions. Mussels increased after the Pacific Marine Heatwave (2014-2016) and the decline in sea star abundance (Traiger et al. 2022). At KATM, mussels increased in sea otter diets in 2015 concurrent with increased mussel abundance in the nearshore system. Decreased clams in sea otter diets at KATM were coincident with decreasing clam biomass and increasing numbers of sea otters, suggesting that otters were at or near a food-dictated carrying capacity. Monitoring both predator diets and prey abundance allows us to better understand nearshore ecosystem responses to perturbations across the GOA.

The PMH and our efforts to evaluate consequences to nearshore ecosystems are good examples and illustrations of the kinds of perturbations we can evaluate with our Nearshore Component monitoring. These allow us to understand not only which factors are important contemporary drivers of nearshore ecosystem dynamics, they also provide context on effects of EVOS and the status of spill-injured resources across various spatial and temporal scales. For example, we know that the oil spill had dramatic and relatively local effects on intertidal communities. More recently, we have been able to document the local, static drivers that generally dictate intertidal community structure (Konar et al. 2016) and how the PMH affected intertidal community structure at a larger scale (Weitzman et al. 2021), partially homogenizing community structure; these phenomena are now much more important drivers of intertidal communities than residual oil spill effects. Our Nearshore Component findings also allow contrasts between nearshore and pelagic biomes, through comparisons to research by our Pelagic Component colleagues. This is important for understanding the kinds of perturbations that disproportionately affect nearshore habitats and the associated biota (e.g., oil spills) and those that affect pelagic ecosystems (e.g., temperature regime shifts). The PMH is a good example. Although we detected variation associated with the PMH in nearshore habitats (Weitzman et al. 2021), these shifts were muted relative to those in the pelagic food web, where catastrophic changes to forage fish abundance and quality were observed (Piatt et al. 2020, Arimitsu et al. 2021, Suryan et al. 2021). As a result, we did not detect changes in upper trophic level abundance or distributions for those predators that consume benthic invertebrates in nearshore habitats, whereas some pelagic
predators (e.g., whales and seabirds), showed large changes in condition, abundance, and distribution, perhaps the most dramatic of which was the major die-off of common murres (Piatt et al. 2020).

The spatial and temporal scales over which metrics vary are beginning to provide insights on the potential drivers of observed ecological patterns. This understanding will continue to improve as we increase the length of the data streams with continued annual sampling. In turn, this has broad application for management of marine habitats and species. For example, the differential responses observed between nearshore and pelagic biomes to the PMH allows some predictive capability and basis for risk assessment when considering which marine species are most likely to be affected by short-term temperature anomalies or persistent changes in global climate.

In addition to core monitoring work, we also have engaged in several collaborative research efforts to understand nearshore processes, leveraging the field presence facilitated by GWA. These collaborations have included stable isotope analyses of nearshore communities (von Biela et al. 2016, Siegert et al. 2022), collection of mussels for growth and energetics analyses, collection of mussels for contaminant analyses (Rider et al. 2020), evaluation of the prevalence of sea star wasting disease (Konar et al. 2019), and collection of clams as part of an evaluation of gene expression and other biomarkers as tools for monitoring health of nearshore ecosystems (Counihan et al. 2019, Bowen et al. 2020, Coletti et al. 2021). We also are working closely with researchers from Simon Fraser University on a black oystercatcher migration study, which is providing insight into the seasonal movements and migration strategies. In addition to logistical support, these collaborative studies benefit from the perspective provided by long-term monitoring data. In turn, GWA benefits from clearer understanding of nearshore ecosystem processes resulting from directed research projects.

The improved understanding of nearshore ecosystem dynamics provided by our GWA monitoring has important and direct application for natural resource management. For example, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) has used our survey data for marine birds and mammals directly as part of risk assessments for vessel groundings and oil spills, both hypothetical in drills and in real-world incidents. USFWS Marine Mammals Management uses our sea otter distribution and abundance data in management documents for the species, such as stock assessments and species status assessments. The Nearshore Component regularly contributes indices to NOAA Fisheries for the annual GOA Ecosystem Status Report to the North Pacific Fisheries Management Council (Ferriss and Zador 2021). The National Park Service (NPS) has incorporated our data into a number of their natural resource management instruments, including Resource Stewardship Strategies (RSSs), Natural Resource Condition Assessments, State of the Park Reports, and upcoming Wilderness Character assessments. For many of their marine resources of management interest, our data are the only data that exist. Finally, data from the Nearshore Component have been used by the EVOS Trustee Council and Trustee agencies to designate population recovery of injured species (e.g., sea otters and harlequin ducks), and assess progress of species still listed as not recovered (e.g., pigeon

guillemots and marbled murrelets). In addition, Nearshore Component data have been used to inform resource management activities well beyond the GOA including the Deepwater Horizon case and risk assessments of pipelines and tanker traffic.

CONCLUSIONS

The Nearshore Component has benefitted by the high degrees of coordination and integration across regions and among Principal Investigators, which was further enhanced during the 2017-2021 period by the formal integration of KBAY and the other study regions of KATM, KEFJ, and WPWS. We strongly feel that this integration and collaboration, along with the study design elements of spatial nesting and multi-trophic-level evaluation, provides an unprecedented broad-scale program for evaluating causes and consequences of variation in Alaska's nearshore ecosystems. Nearshore responses to the PMH provide an excellent example of the power of the Nearshore Component to detect effects at various spatial scales and within different parts of the food web. Our success can be measured by our high degree of productivity (see Other references section below), delivery of data (see Project Data section above), leveraging to facilitate numerous associated research projects, and relevance to management needs. We anticipate that this success and value will continue to grow with the addition of continued years of nearshore monitoring effort.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work presented in this report was supported by the National Park Service, the U. S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center, the University of Alaska Fairbanks, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council. However, the findings and conclusions presented by the authors are their own and do not necessarily reflect the views or position of National Park Service, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, or the Trustee Council. This report has been peer reviewed and approved for publication consistent with USGS Fundamental Science Practices (https://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/1367/). Any use of trade names is for descriptive purposes only and does not represent endorsement by the U. S. Government. We greatly appreciate the support and cooperation by the National Park Service staff of KATM, KEFJ and the Southwest Alaska Network, in particular Tim Shepherd, Amy Miller, Carly Schultz, and Deb Kurtz. We appreciate the many students (University of Alaska Fairbanks, Alaska Pacific University, and University of Alaska Anchorage) that have assisted this program. We also want to recognize the exceptional efforts of Paul Tate (USGS), Captain of the *R/V Alaskan Gyre*. His support over the years and contribution to our successes cannot be overstated.

LITERATURE CITED

Anderson P. J., and J. F. Piatt. 1999. Community reorganization in the Gulf of Alaska following ocean climate regime shift, Marine Ecology Progress Series 189:117-123.

- Arimitsu, M. L., J. F. Piatt, S. Hatch, R. M. Suryan, S. Batten. M. A. Bishop, R. W. Campbell, H. Coletti, D. Cushing, K. Gorman, R. R. Hopcroft, K. J. Kuletz, C. Marsteller, C. McKinstry, D. McGowan, J. Moran, S. Pegau, A. Schaefer, S. Schoen, J. Straley, and V. R. von Biela. 2021. Heatwave-induced synchrony within forage fish portfolio disrupts energy flow to top pelagic predators. Global Change Biology 27:1859–1878. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15556
- Ballachey, B. E., D. H. Monson, G. G. Esslinger, K. Kloecker, J. Bodkin, L. Bowen, and A. K. Miles. 2014. 2013 Update on sea otter studies to assess recovery from the 1989 *Exxon Valdez* oil spill, Prince William Sound, Alaska. U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 1030.
- Barry J. P., C. H. Baxter, R. D. Sagarin, and S. E. Gilman. 1995. Climate-related, long-term faunal changes in a California rocky intertidal community. Science 267:672-675.
- Baxter, R. E. 1971. Earthquake effects on clams of Prince William Sound. Pages 238-245 in The great Alaska earthquake of 1964. Report to National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Bennett, A. J., W. L. Thompson, and D. C. Mortenson. 2006. Vital signs monitoring plan, Southwest Alaska Network. National Park Service, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Bodkin, J. L., H. A. Coletti, B. E. Ballachey, D. H. Monson, D. Esler, and T. A. Dean. 2018.
 Variation in abundance of Pacific blue mussels (*Mytilus trossulus*) in the northern Gulf of Alaska, 2006–2015. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 147:87-97.
- Bodkin, J. L., T.A. Dean, H. A. Coletti, and B. E. Ballachey. 2016. Mussel bed sampling: standard operating procedure, v. 1.2, Southwest Alaska Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR—2016/1175. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Bodkin, J. L. 2015. Historic and Contemporary Status of Sea Otters in the North Pacific. Pages 43-61 in S. E. Larson, J. L. Bodkin, and G. R. VanBlaricom, editors. Sea otter conservation. Academic Press, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Bodkin, J. L., D. Esler, S. D. Rice, C. O. Matkin, and B. E. Ballachey. 2014. The effects of spilled oil on coastal ecosystems: lessons from the Exxon Valdez spill. Pages 311-346 *in* B. Maslo and J. L. Lockwood, editors. Coastal conservation. Cambridge University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Bodkin, J. L. 2011a. SOP for conducting marine bird and mammal surveys Version 4.1: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR—2011/392. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.

- Bodkin, J. L. 2011b. SOP for monitoring black oystercatchers Version 1.1: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR— 2011/391. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Bodkin, J. L. 2011c. SOP for collecting sea otter forage data Version 3.1: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR— 2011/394. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Bodkin, J. L. 2011d. SOP for conducting sea otter aerial surveys Version 1.2: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR— 2011/393. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Bowen, L., K. Counihan, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, T. Hollmen, B. Pister, and T. Wilson. 2020. Monitoring Nearshore Ecosystem Health Using Pacific Razor Clams (*Siliqua patula*) as an Indicator Species. PeerJ 8:e8761. DOI 10.7717/peerj.8761.
- Chemello, S., S. Vizzini, and A. Mazzola. 2018. Regime shifts and alternative stable states in intertidal rocky habitats: state of the art and new trends of research. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 214:57-63.
- Coletti, H. A., L. Bowen, B. E. Ballachey, T. L. Wilson, S. Waters, M. Booz, K. L. Counihan, T. E. Hollmen, and B. Pister, B. 2021. Gene Expression Profiles in Two Razor Clam Populations: Discerning Drivers of Population Status. Life 11:1288. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11121288.
- Coletti, H. A., J. L. Bodkin, D. H. Monson, B. E. Ballachey, and T. A. Dean. 2016. Detecting and inferring cause of change in an Alaska nearshore marine ecosystem. Ecosphere https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1489.
- Counihan, K., L. Bowen, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, T. Hollmen, and B. Pister. 2019. Physiological and gene transcription assays in combinations: a new paradigm for marine intertidal assessment. PeerJ 7:e7800. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7800.
- Crain, C. M., B. S. Halpern, M. W. Beck, and C. V. Kappel. 2009. Understanding and managing human threats to the coastal marine environment. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1162:39–62.
- Danielson, S. L., T. D. Hennon, D. H. Monson, R. M. Suryan, R.W. Campbell, S. J. Baird, K. Holderied, T. J. Weingartner. 2022. Temperature variations in the northern Gulf of Alaska across synoptic to century-long time scales. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, Volume 203, 105155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2022.105155.

- Davis, R., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, D. H. Monson, S. E. Larson, L. P. Carswell, and L. M. Nichol. 2019. Future direction in sea otter research and management. Frontiers in Marine Science 5:510. Doi:10.3389/fmars.2018.00510.
- Dayton, P. K. 1971. Competition, disturbance and community organization: the provision and subsequent utilization of space in a rocky intertidal community. Ecological Monographs 41:351-89.
- Connell, J. H. 1972. Community interactions on marine rocky intertidal shores. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 3:169-92.
- Dean, T., and J. L. Bodkin. 2006. Sampling Protocol for the Nearshore Restoration and Ecosystem Monitoring (N-REM) Program (Nearshore Restoration and Ecosystem Monitoring Research Project G-050750), US Geological Survey, Alaska Science Center, Anchorage, Alaska. Report submitted to the EVOS Trustee Council. 99 pg. plus appendices.
- Dean, T. A., and J. L. Bodkin. 2011a. SOP for sampling of intertidal invertebrates and algae on sheltered rocky shores - Version 4.6: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR—2011/397. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Dean, T. A., and J. L. Bodkin. 2011b. SOP for conducting coastline surveys of birds and mammals, animal carcasses, debris and other resources - Version 1.1: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR—2011-396. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Dean, T. A., J. L. Bodkin, and H. A. Coletti. 2014. Protocol narrative for nearshore marine ecosystem monitoring in the Gulf of Alaska: Version 1.1. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR - 2014/756. Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Doney, S. C., M. Ruckelshaus, J. E. Duffy, J. P. Barry, F. Chan, C. A. English, H. M. Galindo, J. M. Grebmeier, A. B. Hollowed, N. Knowlton, and J. Polovina. 2012. Climate change impacts on marine ecosystems. Marine Science 4.
- Esler, D., and B. E. Ballachey. 2015. Long-term monitoring program evaluating chronic exposure of harlequin ducks and sea otters to lingering *Exxon Valdez* oil in western Prince William Sound. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Restoration Project Final Report (Project 14120114-Q), *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Esler, D., J. Bodkin, B. Ballachey, D. Monson, K. Kloecker, and G. Esslinger. 2015. Timelines and mechanisms of wildlife population recovery following the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. *In:* Quantifying temporal and spatial variability across the northern Gulf of Alaska to

understand mechanisms of change. Gulf Watch Alaska Synthesis Report to the *Exxon* Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council, Projects 14120114 and 14120120.

- Esler, D., B. E. Ballachey, C. O. Matkin, D. Cushing, R. Kaler, J. Bodkin, D. Monson, G. G. Esslinger, and K. Kloecker. 2018. Timelines and mechanisms of wildlife population recovery following the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. Deep Sea Research Part II: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2017.04.007.
- Esslinger, G. G., B. H. Robinson, D. H. Monson, R. L. Taylor, D. Esler, B. P. Weitzman, and J. Garlich-Miller. 2021. Abundance and distribution of sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*) in the Southcentral Alaska stock, 2014, 2017 and 2019. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2021–1122, 19p. <u>https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20211122</u>
- Estes, J. A., M. T. Tinker, T. M. Williams, and D. F. Doak. 1998. Killer whale predation on sea otters linking coastal with oceanic ecosystems. Science 282:473-476.
- Fenberg, P. B. and K. Roy. 2012. Anthropogenic harvesting pressure and changes in life history: insights from a rocky intertidal limpet. The American Naturalist 180:200-210.
- Frölicher, T. L., E. M. Fischer, and N. Gruber. 2018. Marine heatwaves under global warming. Nature 560:360–364.
- Hacker, S. D., B. A. Menge, K. J. Nielsen, F. Chan, and T. C. Gouhier. 2019. Regional processes are stronger determinants of rocky intertidal community dynamics than local biotic interactions. Ecology100: p.e02763.
- Harley, C. D. G., A. R. Hughes, K. M. Hultgren, B. G. Miner, C. J. B. Sorte, C. S. Thornber, L. F. Rodriguez, L. Tomanek, and S. L. Williams. 2006. The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems. Ecology Letters 9:228-241.
- Hawkins, S. J., P. J. Moore, M. T. Burrows, E. Poloczanska, N. Mieszkowska, R. J. Herbert, S. R. Jenkins, R. C. Thompson, M. J. Genner, and A. J. Southward. 2008. Complex interactions in a rapidly changing world: responses of rocky shore communities to recent climate change. Climate Research 37:123-133.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., and J. F. Bruno. 2010. The impact of climate change on the world's marine ecosystems. Science 328:1523–1528.
- Hughes, B. B., and 35 others. 2017. Long-term studies contribute disproportionately to ecology and policy. Bioscience 67:271-281.
- Iken, K., and B. Konar. 2012. Intertidal Long-term Monitoring Methodology for Kachemak Bay. <u>https://workspace.aoos.org/published/file/fa30bafb-3fc8-439f-b144-</u> <u>lfc225be6ba7/SOP_EcologicalTrendsInKachemakBay.pdf?source=catalog&portalId=8</u>.

- Jamieson, G. S., E. D. Grosholz, D. A. Armstrong, and R. W. Elner. 1998. Potential ecological implications from the introduction of the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas* (Linneaus), to British Columbia, Canada, and Washington, USA. Journal of Natural History 32:1587-1598.
- Kaplanis, N. J., C. B. Edwards, Y. Eynaud, and J. E. Smith. 2020. Future sea-level rise drives rocky intertidal habitat loss and benthic community change. PeerJ, 8, p.e9186.
- Kenyon, K. W. 1969. The sea otter in the Eastern Pacific Ocean. North American Fauna 68:1– 352.
- Konar, B., K. Iken, H. A. Coletti, D. H. Monson, and B. P. Weitzman. 2016. Influence of static habitat attributes on local and regional intertidal community structure. Estuaries and Coasts 39:1735. doi:10.1007/s12237-016-0114-0.
- Konar, B., T. J. Mitchell, K. Iken, H. Coletti, T. Dean, D. Esler, M. Lindeberg, B. Pister, and B. Weitzman. 2019. Wasting disease and static environmental variables drive sea star assemblages in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 520.
- Lewis, J. 1996. Coastal benthos and global warming: strategies and problems. Marine Pollution Bulletin 32:698-700.
- Menge, B. A., and D. N. Menge. 2013. Dynamics of coastal meta-ecosystems: the intermittent upwelling hypothesis and a test in rocky intertidal regions. Ecological Monographs 83:283-310.
- Menge, B. A., T. C. Gouhier, S. D. Hacker, F. Chan, and K.J. Nielsen. 2015. Are metaecosystems organized hierarchically? A model and test in rocky intertidal habitats. Ecological Monographs 85:213-233.
- Michel, J., D. Esler, and Z. Nixon. 2016. Studies on *Exxon Valdez* lingering oil: review and update on recent findings – February 2016. Report for the *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council. Alaska Department of Fish and Game and U.S. Geological Survey, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Monson, D. H., D. F. Doak, B. E. Ballachey, A. Johnson, and J. L. Bodkin. 2000. Long-term impacts of the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill on sea otters, assessed through age-dependent mortality patterns. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97:6562-6567.
- Monson, D. H., R. L. Taylor, G. V. Hilderbrand, J. A. Erlenbach, H. A. Coletti, K. A. Kloecker, G. G. Esslinger, and J. L. Bodkin. 2022. Brown bear–sea otter interactions along the Katmai coast: terrestrial and nearshore communities linked by predation. Journal of Mammalogy gyac095, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyac095</u>.

- Noda, T., A. Iwasaki, and K. Fukaya. 2015. Recovery of rocky intertidal zonation: two years after the 2011 Great East Japan Earthquake. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 96:1549-1555. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S002531541500212X</u>.
- O'Connor, N. J. 2014. Invasion dynamics on a temperate rocky shore: from early invasion to establishment of a marine invader. Biological Invasions 16:73-87.
- Paine, R. T. 1974. Intertidal community structure: experimental studies on the relationship between a dominant competitor and its principal predator. Oecologica 15:93-120
- Paine, R. T. 1977. Controlled manipulations in the marine intertidal zone, and their contributions to ecological theory. Pages 245-270 in C. E. Goulden, editor. The Changing Scenes in the Natural Sciences. Philadelphia, Academy of Natural Sciences. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Piatt, J. F., J. K. Parrish, H. M. Renner, S. Schoen, T. Jones, K. Kuletz, B. Bodenstein, M. Arimitsu, M. García-Reyes, R. Duerr, R. Corcoran, R. Kaler, G. McChesney, R. Golightly, H. Coletti, R. M. Suryan, H. Burgess, J. Lindsey, K. Lindquist, P. Warzybok, J. Jahncke, J. Roletto, and W. Sydeman. 2020. Mass mortality and chronic reproductive failure of common murres during and after the 2014-2016 northeast Pacific marine heatwave. PLOS One 15:e0226087. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226087</u>
- Peterson, C. H. 2001. The *Exxon Valdez* oil spill in Alaska: acute, indirect and chronic effects on the ecosystem. Advances in Marine Biology 39:1-103.
- Peterson, C. H., S. D. Rice, J. W. Short, D. Esler, J. L. Bodkin, B. E. Ballachey, and D. B. Irons. 2003. Long-term ecosystem response to the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. Science 302:2082-2086.
- Peterson, C. H. 1993. Improvement of environmental impact by application of principles derived from manipulative ecology: Lessons from coastal marine case histories. Australian Journal of Ecology. 18:21-52.
- Rigby, R., K. Iken, and Y. Shirayama. 2007. Sampling biodiversity in coastal communities. Kyoto University Press, Kyoto, Japan.
- Rider, M., D. A. Apeti, A. Jacob, K. Kimbrough, E. Davenport, M. Bower, H. Coletti, and D. Esler. 2020. A Synthesis of Ten Years of Chemical Contaminants Monitoring in National Park Service Southeast and Southwest Alaska Networks. A collaboration with the NOAA National Mussel Watch Program. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 277. Silver Spring, MD. 110 pp. DOI 10.25923/dbyq-7z17
 https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/25520.

- Robinson, B., H. A. Coletti, B. E. Ballachey, J. L. Bodkin, K. A. Kloecker, S. B. Traiger, and D. Esler. In Review. Trophic pathways driver differential responses of nearshore marine bird foraging guilds to the Pacific marine heatwave. Marine Ecology Progress Series.
- Sagarin, R. D., J. P. Barry, S. E. Gilman, and C. H. Baxter. 1999. Climate related changes in an intertidal community over short and long time scales. Ecological Monographs 69:465-490.
- Schiel, D. R., and D. I. Taylor. 1999. Effects of trampling on a rocky intertidal algal assemblage in southern New Zealand. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 235:213-235.
- Siegert, D., B. Konar. M. R. Lindeberg, S. Saupe, and K. Iken. 2022. Trophic structure of rocky intertidal communities in two contrasting high-latitude environments. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 198:105050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2022.105050.
- Sousa, W. P. 1979. Experimental investigations of disturbance and ecological succession in a rocky intertidal algal community. Ecological Monographs. 49:227-254.
- Suryan, R. M., M. L. Arimitsu, H. A. Coletti, R. R. Hopcroft, M. R. Lindeberg, S. J. Barbeaux, S. D. Batten, W. J. Burt, M. A. Bishop, J. L. Bodkin, R. Brenner, R. W. Campbell, D. A. Cushing, S. L. Danielson, M. W. Dorn, B. Drummond, D. Esler, T. Gelatt, D. H. Hanselman, S. A. Hatch, S. Haught, K. Holderied, K. Iken, D. B. Irons, A. B. Kettle, D. G. Kimmel, B. Konar, K. J. Kuletz, B. J. Laurel, J. M. Maniscalco, C. Matkin, C. A. E. McKinstry, D. H. Monson, J. R. Moran, D. Olsen, W. A. Palsson, W. S. Pegau, J. F. Piatt, L. A. Rogers, N. A. Rojek, A. Schaefer, I. B. Spies, J. M. Straley, S. L. Strom, K. L. Sweeney, M. Szymkowiak, B. P. Weitzman, E. M. Yasumiishi, and S. G. Zador. 2021. Ecosystem response persists after a prolonged marine heatwave. Scientific Reports 11:6235. <u>https://doi.org/6210.1038/s41598-41021-83818-41595</u>.
- Tinker, M. T., J. L. Bodkin, L. Bowen, B. Ballachey, G. Bentall, A. Burdin, H. Coletti, G. Esslinger, B. B. Hatfield, M. C. Kenner, K. Kloecker, B. Konar, A. K. Miles, D. H. Monson, M. J. Murray, B. Weitzman, and J. A. Estes. 2021. Sea otter population collapse in southwest Alaska: assessing ecological covariates, consequences, and causal factors. Ecological Monographs 91(4):e01472. 10.1002/ecm.1472.
- Traiger, S. B., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, B. Ballachey, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, R. M. Suryan, and B. P. Weitzman. 2022. Evidence of increased mussel abundance related to the Pacific marine heatwave and sea star wasting. Marine Ecology 43:e12715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/maec.12715</u>.

Valiela, I. 2006. Global Coastal Change. Blackwell Publishing. Malden, Massachusetts, USA.

- Vinagre, C., I. Leal, V. Mendonça, D. Madeira, L. Narciso, M. S. Diniz, and A. A. V. Flores. 2016. Vulnerability to climate warming and acclimation capacity of tropical and temperate coastal organisms. Ecological Indicators 62:317-327.
- von Biela, V. R., S. D. Newsome, J. L. Bodkin, G. H. Kruse, and C. E. Zimmerman. 2016. Widespread kelp-derived carbon in pelagic and benthic nearshore fishes. Estuarine, Coastal, and Shelf Science 181:364-374.
- Weitzman, B., B. Konar, K. Iken, H. Coletti, D. Monson, R. Suryan, T. Dean, D. Hondolero, and M. Lindeberg. 2021. Changes in rocky intertidal community structure during a marine heatwave in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Frontiers in Marine Science 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.556820</u>.
- Wethey, D. S., S. A. Woodin, T. J. Hilbish, S. J. Jones, F. P. Lima, and P. M. Brannock. 2011. Response of intertidal populations to climate: effects of extreme events versus long term change. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 400:132-144.

OTHER REFERENCES

This section includes peer reviewed publications, EVOSTC reports and other significant report contributions, publicly available datasets associated with this project, and popular articles about the project.

Peer-reviewed Publications

- Arimitsu, M. L., J. F. Piatt, S. Hatch, R. M. Suryan, S. Batten. M. A. Bishop, R. W. Campbell, H. Coletti, D. Cushing, K. Gorman, R. R. Hopcroft, K. J. Kuletz, C. Marsteller, C. McKinstry, D. McGowan, J. Moran, S. Pegau, A. Schaefer, S. Schoen, J. Straley, and V. R. von Biela. 2021. Heatwave-induced synchrony within forage fish portfolio disrupts energy flow to top pelagic predators. Global Change Biology 27:1859–1878. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15556.
- Bodkin, J. L., H. A. Coletti, B. E. Ballachey, D. H. Monson, D. Esler, and T. A. Dean. 2018. Variation in abundance of Pacific Blue Mussel (*Mytilus trossulus*) in the Northern Gulf of Alaska, 2006–2015. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 147:87-97.
- Bowen, L., K. Counihan, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, T. Hollmen, B. Pister, and T. Wilson. 2020. Monitoring nearshore ecosystem health using Pacific Razor Clams (*Siliqua patula*) as an indicator species. PeerJ <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.8761</u>.
- Bowen, L., A. K. Miles, B. E. Ballachey, S. Waters, J. L. Bodkin, M. Lindeberg, and D. Esler.
 2018. Gene transcription patterns in response to low level petroleum contaminants in *Mytilus trossulus* from field sites and harbors in southcentral Alaska. Deep Sea Research

Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 147:27-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2017.08.007.

- Bowen L., S. Knowles, K. Lefebvre, M. St. Martin, M. Murray, K. Kloecker, D. Monson, B. Weitzman, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, S. Waters, and C. Cummings. 2022. Divergent gene expression profiles in Alaskan sea otters: an indicator of chronic domoic acid exposure? Oceans 3:401-418. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/oceans3030027</u>.
- Burgess, T. L., M. T. Tinker, M. A. Miller, J. L. Bodkin, M. J. Murray, J. A. Saarinen, L. M. Nichol, S. Larson, P. A. Conrad, and C. K. Johnson. 2018. Defining the risk landscape in the context of pathogen pollution: *Toxoplasma gondii* in sea otters along the Pacific Rim. Royal Society Open Science 5: 171178. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsos.171178</u>.
- Burgess, T. L., M. T. Tinker, M. A. Miller, W. A., Smith, J. L. Bodkin, M. J. Murray, L. M. Nichol, J. A. Saarinen, S. Larson, J. A. Tomoleoni, and P. A. Conrad. 2020. Spatial epidemiological patterns suggest mechanisms of land-sea transmission for *Sarcocystis neurona* in a coastal marine mammal. Scientific Reports 10:1-9.
- Coletti, H. A. 2021. Sea otter behavior and its influence on littoral community structure. Pages 139-160 *In* R. Davis, and A. Pagano, editors. Ethology of Sea Otters and Polar Bears. Springer, New York, New York, USA.
- Coletti, H., G. Hilderbrand, J. Bodkin, B. Ballachey, J. Erlenbach, G. Esslinger, M. Hannam, K. Kloecker, B. Mangipane, A. Miller, D. Monson, B. Pister, K. Griffin, K. Bodkin, and T. Smith. 2022. Where land and sea meet: brown bears and sea otters. Frontiers in Young Minds <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/frym.2022.715993</u>.
- Counihan, K., L. Bowen, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, T. Hollmen, and B. Pister. 2019. Physiological and gene transcription assays in combinations: a new paradigm for marine intertidal assessment. PeerJ <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7800</u>.
- Danielson, S. L., T. D. Hennon, D. H. Monson, R. M. Suryan, R.W. Campbell, S. J. Baird, K. Holderied, and T. J. Weingartner. 2022. Temperature variations in the northern Gulf of Alaska across synoptic to century-long time scales. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 203:105155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2022.105155</u>.
- Davis, R. W., and J. L. Bodkin. 2021. Sea otter foraging behavior. Pages 57-81 In R. Davis, and A. Pagano, editors. Ethology of Sea Otters and Polar Bears. Springer, New York, New York, USA.
- Davis, R., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, D. H. Monson, S. E. Larson, L. P. Carswell, and L. M. Nichol. 2019. Future direction in sea otter research and management. Frontiers in Marine Science 5. doi:10.3389/fmars.2018.00510.

- Esler, D., B. E. Ballachey, C. O. Matkin, D. Cushing, R. Kaler, J. Bodkin, D. Monson, G. G.
 Esslinger, and K. Kloecker. 2018. Timelines and mechanisms of wildlife population recovery following the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 147:36-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2017.04.007</u>.
- Konar, B., and K. Iken. 2018. The use of unmanned aerial vehicle imagery in intertidal monitoring. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 147:79-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2017.04.010.
- Konar, B., T. J. Mitchell, K. Iken, H. Coletti, T. Dean, D. Esler, M. Lindeberg, B. Pister, and B. Weitzman. 2019. Wasting disease and environmental variables drive sea star assemblages in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 520:15109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2019.151209</u>.
- Larson, S., R. B. Gagne, J. Bodkin, M. J., Murray, K. Ralls, L. Bowen, R. Leblois, S. Piry, M. C. Penedo, M. T. Tinker, and H. B. Ernest. 2021. Translocations maintain genetic diversity and increase connectivity in sea otters, *Enhydra lutris*. Marine Mammal Science 37:1475-1497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12841</u>.
- Monson, D., R. L. Taylor, G. V. Hilderbrand, J. A. Erlenbach, H. A. Coletti, K. A. Kloecker, G. G. Esslinger, and J. L. Bodkin. 2022. Brown bear-sea otter interactions along the Katmai coast: terrestrial and nearshore communities linked by predation. Journal of Mammalogy 104:171-183. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyac095.
- Piatt, J. F., J. K. Parrish, H. M. Renner, S. Schoen, T. Jones, K. Kuletz, B. Bodenstein, M. Arimitsu, M. García-Reyes, R. Duerr, R. Corcoran, R. Kaler, G. McChesney, R. Golightly, H. Coletti, R. M. Suryan, H. Burgess, J. Lindsey, K. Lindquist, P. Warzybok, J. Jahncke, J. Roletto, W. Sydeman. 2020. Mass mortality and chronic reproductive failure of common murres during and after the 2014-2016 northeast Pacific marine heatwave. PLOS One 15:e0226087. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226087.
- Robinson, B. H., H. A. Coletti, L. M. Phillips, and A. N. Powell. 2018. Are prey remains accurate indicators of chick diet? A comparison of diet quantification techniques for Black Oystercatchers. Wader Study 125:20-32. doi:10.18194/ws.00105.
- **Robinson**, B. H., L. M. Phillips, and A. N. Powell. 2019. Energy intake rate influences survival of Black Oystercatcher *Haematopus bachmani* broods. Marine Ornithology 47:277-283
- Ruesink J. L., P. L. Reynolds, C. Boström. M. Cusson, J. Douglass, J Eklöf, A. H. Engelen. M. Hori, K. Hovel, K. Iken, P. O. Moksnes, M. Nakaoka, M. I. O'Connor, J. L. Olsen, E. E. Sotka, J. J. Stachowicz, M. A. Whalen, and J. E. Duffy. 2018. Form-function relationships in a marine foundation species depend on scale: a shoot to global

perspective from a distributed ecological experiment. Oikos 127: 364-374. https://Oikos 10.1111/oik.04270.

- Siegert, D., B. Konar, M. R. Lindeberg, S. Saupe, and K. Iken. 2022. Trophic structure of rocky intertidal communities in two contrasting high-latitude environments. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 198:105050. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2022.105050</u>.
- Suryan, R. M., M. L. Arimitsu, H. A. Coletti, R. R. Hopcroft, M. R. Lindeberg, S. J. Barbeaux, S. D. Batten, W. J. Burt, M. A. Bishop, J. L. Bodkin, R. Brenner, R. W. Campbell, D. A. Cushing, S. L. Danielson, M. W. Dorn, B. Drummond, D. Esler, T. Gelatt, D. H. Hanselman, S. A. Hatch, S. Haught, K. Holderied, K. Iken, D. B. Irons, A. B. Kettle, D. G. Kimmel, B. Konar, K. J. Kuletz, B. J. Laurel, J. M. Maniscalco, C. Matkin, C. A. E. McKinstry, D. H. Monson, J. R. Moran, D. Olsen, W. A. Palsson, W. S. Pegau, J. F. Piatt, L. A. Rogers, N. A. Rojek, A. Schaefer, I. B. Spies, J. M. Straley, S. L. Strom, K. L. Sweeney, M. Szymkowiak, B. P. Weitzman, E. M. Yasumiishi, and S. G. Zador. 2021. Ecosystem response persists after a prolonged marine heatwave. Scientific Reports 11:6235. <u>https://doi.org/6210.1038/s41598-41021-83818-41595</u>.
- Tinker, M. T, J. L. Bodkin, M. Ben-David, and J. A. Estes. 2017. Marine otters. Pages 726-722 in W. F. Perrin, B. Wursig, J. G. M. Thewissen, and C. R. Crumly, editors. Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals, 3rd Edition. Elsevier, London, United Kingdom.
- Tinker, M. T., J. L. Bodkin, L. Bowen, B. Ballachey, G. Bentall, A. Burdin, H. Coletti, G. Esslinger, B. B. Hatfield, M. C. Kenner, K. Kloecker, B. Konar, A. K. Miles, D. H. Monson, M. J. Murray, B. Weitzman, and J. A. Estes. 2021. Sea otter population collapse in southwest Alaska: assessing ecological covariates, consequences, and causal factors. Ecological Monographs https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1472.
- Traiger, S. B., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, B. Ballachey, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, R. M. Suryan, and B. P. Weitzman. 2022. Evidence of increased mussel abundance related to the Pacific marine heatwave and sea star wasting. Marine Ecology 43:e12715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/maec.12715</u>.
- Weitzman, B., B. Konar, K. Iken, H. Coletti, D. Monson, R. Suryan, T. Dean, D. Hondolero, and M. Lindeberg. 2021. Changes in rocky intertidal community structure during a marine heatwave in the Northern Gulf of Alaska. Frontiers in Marine Science 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.556820.

Reports

Arimitsu, M., J. Piatt, R. M. Suryan, S. Batten, M. A. Bishop, R. W. Campbell, H. Coletti, D. Cushing, K. Gorman, S. Hatch, S. Haught, R. R. Hopcroft, K. J. Kuletz, C. Marsteller, C. McKinstry, D. McGowan, J. Moran, R. S. Pegau, A. Schaefer, S. Schoen, J. Straley, and

V. R. von Biela. 2020. Chapter 3 Synchronous collapse of forage species disrupts trophic transfer during a prolonged marine heatwave. *In* R. M. Suryan, M. R. **Lindeberg**, and D. R. Aderhold, editors. The Pacific Marine Heatwave: Monitoring During a Major Perturbation in the Gulf of Alaska. Gulf Watch Alaska Long-Term Monitoring Program Synthesis Report (*Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Program 19120114). *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.

- Bowen, L., A. Love, S. Waters, K. Counihan, B. Ballachey, and H. Coletti. 2019. Report: Port Valdez Mussel Transcriptomics. Prepared for Prince William Sound Regional Citizens' Advisory Council. Contract Number 951.20.06
- Coletti, H., J. Bodkin, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Ballachey, K. Kloecker, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, R. Suryan and B. Weitzman. 2019. Intertidal Ecosystem Indicators in the Northern Gulf of Alaska in S. G. Zador, and E. M. Yasumiishi, editors. Ecosystem Status Report 2019: Gulf of Alaska. Report to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 605 W 4th Ave, Suite 306, Anchorage, AK 99301.
- Coletti, H., J. Bodkin, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Ballachey, K. Kloecker, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, R. Suryan and B. Weitzman. 2020 Intertidal Ecosystem Indicators in the Northern Gulf of Alaska in Ferriss, B. and S. G. Zador. 2020. Ecosystem Status Report 2020: Gulf of Alaska. Report to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 605 W 4th Ave, Suite 306, Anchorage, AK 99301. Ecosystem Status Report 2020 Gulf of Alaska | NOAA Fisheries
- Coletti, H., J. Bodkin, T. Dean, K. Iken, B. Konar, D. Monson, D. Esler, M. Lindeberg, R. Suryan. 2018. Intertidal Ecosystem Indicators in the Northern Gulf of Alaska. *In* S. G. Zador, and E. M. Yasumiishi, editors. Ecosystem Status Report 2018: Gulf of Alaska. Report to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 605 W 4th Ave, Suite 306, Anchorage, AK 99301. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/resource/data/2018-status-gulf-alaska-ecosystem
- Coletti, H., J. Bodkin, T. Dean, K. Iken, B. Konar, D. Monson, D. Esler, M. Lindeberg, and R. Suryan. 2021 Intertidal Ecosystem Indicators in the Northern Gulf of Alaska. *In* S. G. Zador, and E. M. Yasumiishi, editors. 2021. Ecosystem Status Report 2021: Gulf of Alaska. Report to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 605 W 4th Ave, Suite 306, Anchorage, AK 99301.
- Coletti, H., J. Bodkin, T. Dean, K. Iken, B. Konar, D. Monson, D. Esler, M. Lindeberg, and R. Suryan. 2022. Intertidal ecosystem indicators in the northern Gulf of Alaska. S. G. Zador, and E. M. Yasumiishi, editors. Ecosystem Status Report 2022: Gulf of Alaska. Report to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 605 W 4th Ave, Suite 306, Anchorage, AK 99301.

- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, G. Esslinger, K. Kloecker, D. Monson, B.
 Robinson, B. Weitzman, T. Dean, and M. Lindeberg. 2018. Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore Benthic Systems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Restoration Project Final Report (Restoration Project 16120114-R), *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Konar, K. Iken, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, G. Esslinger, K. Kloecker, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, S. Traiger, and B. Weitzman.
 2022. Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Restoration Project 2021 Annual Report (Restoration Project 17120114-H), *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Konar, K. Iken, K. Kloecker, D. Monson, B. Weitzman, B.
 Ballachey, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, G. Esslinger, B. Robinson, and M. Lindeberg. 2018.
 Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill
 Restoration Project Annual Report (Restoration Project 17120114-H), *Exxon Valdez* Oil
 Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Konar, K. Iken, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, G. Esslinger, K. Kloecker, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, S. Traiger and B. Weitzman. 2021. Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Restoration Project 2020 Annual Report (Restoration Project 17120114-H), *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Konar, K. Iken, K. Kloecker, D. Monson, B. Weitzman, B.
 Ballachey, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, G. Esslinger, B. Robinson, and M. Lindeberg. 2019.
 Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill
 Restoration Project Annual Report (Restoration Project 18120114-H), *Exxon Valdez* Oil
 Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Konar, K. Iken, K. Kloecker, D. Monson, B. Weitzman, B.
 Ballachey, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, G. Esslinger, B. Robinson, and M. Lindeberg. 2019.
 Gulf Watch Alaska: Nearshore Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill
 Restoration Project Annual Report (Restoration Project 18120114-H), *Exxon Valdez* Oil
 Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Coletti, H. A., and T. L. Wilson. 2018. Nearshore marine bird surveys: Data synthesis, analysis and recommendations for sampling frequency and intensity to detect population trends. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Long-Term Monitoring Program (Gulf Watch Alaska) Final Report (*Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Project 12120114-F). *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.

- Danielson, S. L., T. D. Hennon, D. H. Monson, R. M. Suryan, R. W. Campbell, S. J. Baird, K. Holderied, and T. J. Weingartner. 2020. Chapter 1 A study of marine temperature variations in the northern Gulf of Alaska across years of marine heatwaves and cold spells. *In* R. M. Suryan, M. R. Lindeberg, and D. R. Aderhold, editors. The Pacific Marine Heatwave: Monitoring During a Major Perturbation in the Gulf of Alaska. Gulf Watch Alaska Long-Term Monitoring Program Synthesis Report (*Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Program 19120114). *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Esslinger, G. G., B. H. Robinson, D. H. Monson, R. L. Taylor, D. Esler, B. P. Weitzman, and J. Garlich-Miller. 2021. Abundance and distribution of sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*) in the Southcentral Alaska stock, 2014, 2017 and 2019. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2021–1122, 19p. <u>https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20211122</u>.
- Garlich-Miller, J., G. Esslinger, and B. Weitzman. 2018. Aerial surveys of sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*) in lower Cook Inlet, Alaska, May 2017. USFWS Technical Report MMM 2018-01. U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Marine Mammals Management. Anchorage, AK
- Green, D., C. Rankin, L. Ware, B. Robinson, D. Esler, and H. Coletti. 2021. Movement ecology of Black Oystercatchers. 2021 Alaska Shorebird Group Annual Summary. 2021_ASG_annual_summary.pdf (alaskashorebirdgroup.com)
- Green, D., C. Rankin, L. Ware, D. Esler, B. Robinson, and H. Coletti. 2022. Movement ecology of Black Oystercatchers. Alaska Shorebird Group Annual summary compilation: new and ongoing studies or initiatives focused on Alaska shorebirds. Alaska Shorebird Group, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Jones, T., S. Saupe, K. Iken, B. Konar, S. Venator, M. Lindeberg, H. Coletti, B. Pister, J. Reynolds, and K. Haven. 2019. Evaluation of nearshore communities and habitats: Lower Cook Inlet nearshore ecosystem. Anchorage (AK): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. OCS Study BOEM 2019-075. 219 p.
- Konar B., K. Iken, and A. Doroff. 2018. Long-term monitoring: nearshore benthic ecosystems in Kachemak Bay. Long-term Monitoring Program (Gulf Watch Alaska) Final Report (*Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Project 16120114-L). *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Rider, M., D. A. Apeti, A., Jacob, K. Kimbrough, E. Davenport, M. Bower, H. Coletti, and D.
 Esler. 2020. A Synthesis of Ten Years of Chemical Contaminants Monitoring in National Park Service Southeast and Southwest Alaska Networks. A collaboration with the NOAA National Mussel Watch Program. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 277. Silver Spring, MD. 110 pp. https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/25520.

- **Robinson**, B., D. **Esler**, and H. **Coletti**. 2019. Long-term monitoring of Black Oystercatchers in the Gulf of Alaska. Annual Summary Compilation: New or ongoing studies of Alaska shorebirds. Alaska Shorebird Group, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Robinson, B., D. Esler, and H. Coletti. 2021. Long-term monitoring of Black Oystercatchers in the Gulf of Alaska. 2021. Alaska Shorebird Group Annual Summary. 2021_ASG_annual_summary.pdf (alaskashorebirdgroup.com).
- Robinson, B., D. Esler, and H. Coletti. 2022. Long-term monitoring of Black Oystercatchers in the Gulf of Alaska. in Alaska Shorebird Group. Annual summary compilation: new and ongoing studies or initiatives focused on Alaska shorebirds. Alaska Shorebird Group, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Starcevich, L. A. H., T. McDonald, A. Chung-MacCoubrey, A. Heard, J. C. B. Nesmith, H. Coletti, and T. Philippi. 2018. Methods for estimating trend in binary and count response variables from complex survey designs. Natural Resource Report NPS/KLMN/NRR—2018/1641. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado. https://irma.nps.gov/DataStore/Reference/Profile/2253180.
- Suryan, R. M., M. Arimitsu, H. Coletti, R. R. Hopcroft, M. R. Lindeberg, S. Batten, M. A. Bishop, R. Brenner, R. Campbell, D. Cushing, S. Danielson, D. Esler, T. Gelatt, S. Hatch, S. Haught, K. Holderied, K. Iken, D. Irons, D. Kimmel, B. Konar, K. Kuletz, B. Laurel, J. M. Maniscalco, C. Matkin, C. McKinstry, D. Monson, J. Moran, D. Olsen, S. Pegau, J. Piatt, L. Rogers, A. Schaefer, J. Straley, K. Sweeney, M. Szymkowiak, B. Weitzman, J. Bodkin, and S. Zador. 2020. Chapter 4 Ecosystem response to a prolonged marine heatwave in the Gulf of Alaska. *In* R. M. Suryan, M. R. Lindeberg, and D. R. Aderhold, editors. The Pacific Marine Heatwave: Monitoring During a Major Perturbation in the Gulf of Alaska. Gulf Watch Alaska Long-Term Monitoring Program Synthesis Report (*Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Program 19120114). *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Ware, L., D. Green, D. Esler, B. Robinson, H. Coletti. 2019 Field Report: Movement Ecology of the Black Oystercatcher in Alaska. Prepared for the Bird Banding Laboratory, Laurel, Maryland, USA.
- Ware, L., D. Green, D. Esler, B. Robinson, H. Coletti. 2019. Field Report: Movement Ecology of the Black Oystercatcher in Alaska. Annual Summary Compilation: New or ongoing studies of Alaska shorebirds. Alaska Shorebird Group, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Weitzman, B., B. Konar, K. Iken, H. Coletti, D. Monson, R. M. Suryan, T. Dean, D. Hondolero, and M. R. Lindeberg. 2020. Chapter 2 Changes in rocky intertidal community structure during a marine heatwave in the northern Gulf of Alaska. *In* R. M. Suryan, M. R. Lindeberg, and D.R. Aderhold, editors. The Pacific Marine Heatwave:

Monitoring During a Major Perturbation in the Gulf of Alaska. Gulf Watch Alaska Long-Term Monitoring Program Synthesis Report (*Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council Program 19120114). *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council, Anchorage, Alaska.

Weitzman, B. P., J. L. Bodkin, K. A. Kloecker, and H. A. Coletti. 2017. SOP for monitoring intertidal bivalves on mixed-sediment beaches — version 2.0: Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network. Natural Resource Report NPS/SWAN/NRR— 2017/1443. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado.

Publicly available datasets

- Iken, K., and B. Konar. Long-term Monitoring of Ecological Communities in Kachemak Bay, 2012-2022, Gulf Watch Alaska Nearshore Component. Research Workspace. 10.24431/rw1k6cw, version: 10.24431 rw1k6cw 20221222T212743Z.
- U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center, National Park Service Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network, and University of Alaska Fairbanks - College of Fisheries and Ocean Sciences, 2017, Black Oystercatcher Nest and Diet Data from Kachemak Bay, Katmai National Park and Preserve, Kenai Fjords National Park, and Prince William Sound, 2006-2022 (ver 2.0, September 2022): U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/F7WH2N5Q.
- U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center, National Park Service Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network, 2016. Intertidal mussel (Mytilus) data from Prince William Sound, Katmai National Park and Preserve, and Kenai Fjords National Park (ver 3.0, September 2022): U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/F7FN1498.
- U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center, National Park Service Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network, 2022, Rocky intertidal data from Prince William Sound, Katmai National Park and Preserve, and Kenai Fjords National Park (ver 1.0, September 2022): U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/F7513WCB.
- U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center, National Park Service Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network, University of Alaska Fairbanks, 2022. Sea otter spraint data from Kachemak Bay, Katmai National Park and Preserve, Kenai Fjords National Park and Prince William Sound: U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/P9EDM6NL.
- U.S. Geological Survey Alaska Science Center, National Park Service Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network, and University of Alaska Fairbanks - College of Fisheries and Ocean Sciences, 2016, Intertidal temperature data from Kachemak Bay, Prince William Sound, Katmai National Park and Preserve, and Kenai Fjords National

Park (ver 3.0, August 2022): U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/F7WH2N3T.

U.S. Geological Survey - Alaska Science Center, National Park Service - Southwest Alaska Inventory and Monitoring Network, and University of Alaska Fairbanks, 2018, Intertidal soft-sediment bivalves from Prince William Sound, Kachemak Bay, Katmai National Park and Preserve, and Kenai Fjords National Park (ver 2.0, September 2022): U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/F71834N0.

Scientific presentations

- Arimitsu, M., J. Piatt, R. M. Suryan, S. Batten, M. A. Bishop, R. W. Campbell, H. Coletti, D. Cushing, K. Gorman, S. Hatch, S. Haught, R. R. Hopcroft, K. J. Kuletz, C. Marsteller, C. McKinstry, D. McGowan, J. Moran, R. S. Pegau, A. Schaefer, S. Schoen, J. Straley, and V. R. von Biela. 2021. Heatwave-induced synchrony within forage fish portfolio disrupts energy flow to top pelagic predators. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Bodkin, J., H. Coletti, B. Ballachey, D. Monson, T. Dean, D. Esler, G. Esslinger, K. Iken, K.
 Kloecker, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, and B. Weitzman. 2018. Detecting and inferring cause of change in Alaska nearshore marine ecosystem: An approach using sea otters as a component of the nearshore benthic food web. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Bodkin, J., H. Coletti, D. Esler, B. Konar, K. Iken, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, A. Doroff, G. Esslinger, K. Kloecker, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, S. Traiger, and B. Weitzman. 2021. Flexing their mussels: Sea otter diet shifts in response to mussel abundance. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Bodkin, J. L., B. E. Ballachey, G. E. Esslinger, B. P. Weitzman, A. M. Burdin, L. Nichol and H. A. Coletti. 2017. A century of sea otter science and conservation in National Parks. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Bowen, L., H.A. Coletti, B. Ballachey, T. Hollmen, S. Waters, and K. Counihan. 2018. Transcription as a Tool for Assessing Bivalve Responses to Changing Ocean Conditions. Oral Presentation. Ocean Sciences Meeting, Portland, February.
- **Coletti**, H. A. 2019. Gulf Watch Alaska overview and updates. Oral Presentation. MARINe and BOEM joint meeting. September.
- Coletti, H., L. Bowen, B. Ballachey, T. L. Wilson, M. Booz, K. Counihan, T. Hollmen, S. Waters, and B. Pister. 2021. Gene transcription profiles in two razor clam populations. Oral Presentation. Kachemak Bay Science Symposium, Homer, March.

- Coletti, H., D. Esler, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, G. Esslinger, K. Iken, K. Kloecker, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, D. Monson, B. Robinson, and B. Weitzman. 2018. A decade's worth of data: Key metrics from a large-scale, trophic web based long term monitoring program in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Coletti, H. A., G. Hilderbrand, D. Monson, J. Erlenbach, B. Ballachey, B. Pister and B. Mangipane. 2019. Where carnivores clash: Evidence of competition Prey-shifting by brown bears during a period of sea otter recovery. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Coletti, H. A., P. Martyn, D. H. Monson, D. Esler and A. E. Miller. 2018. Using small unmanned aircraft systems (sUAS) to map intertidal topography in Katmai National Park and Preserve, Alaska. Poster Presentation. Ocean Sciences Meeting, Portland, February 2018.
- Coletti, H.A., R. Suryan, D. Esler, R. Kaler, T. Hollmen, M. Arimitsu, J. Bodkin, T. Dean, K. Kloecker, K. Kuletz, J. Piatt, B. Robinson, and B. Weitzman. 2019. Birds of a feather flock together... or do they? Regional and temporal patterns of community composition and abundance in nearshore marine birds across the Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Bird Conference, Fairbanks, March.
- Counihan, K., L. Bowen, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, T. Hollmen, and B. Pister. 2019.
 Physiological and gene transcription assays in combinations: a new paradigm for marine intertidal assessment. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- DeCino, K., K. Holderied, B. **Weitzman**, and M. Renner. 2021. State of Kachemak Bay: A tool for understanding and reporting change. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Dorsaz, T., and B. **Konar**. 2019. Clam predation patterns as a way of understanding sea star wasting disease's impacts in Kachemak Bay. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Dowling, A., B. Konar B, and K. Iken K. 2020. Size distribution variability in Pacific blue mussels (*Mytilus trossulus*) in glacially influenced estuaries. Poster Presentation. World Conference on Marine Biodiversity, Auckland, December.
- Dowling, A., B. **Konar**, and K. **Iken**. 2020. Variability in Pacific Blue Mussel (*Mytilus trossulus*) demographics in a glacially influenced estuary. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.

- Dowling, A., B. **Konar**, and K. **Iken**. 2021. Size distribution variability in Pacific blue mussels (*Mytilus trossulus*) in glacially influenced estuaries. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- **Esler**, D. 2017. Sea ducks as indicators of nearshore marine conditions. Oral Presentation. 6th International Sea Duck Conference, San Francisco, February.
- **Esler**, D. 2017. Sea duck traits: their influence on oil spill vulnerability and restoration potential. Oral Presentation. 6th International Sea Duck Conference, San Francisco, February
- Esslinger, G. G., H. A. Coletti, J. L. Bodkin, D. H. Monson, B. E. Ballachey, T. A. Dean, and D. Esler. 2017. Contrasting demography and behavior among sea otter populations in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Chapter of The Wildlife Society Annual Meeting, Fairbanks, April.
- Esslinger, G. G., H. A. Coletti, J. L. Bodkin, D. H. Monson, B. E. Ballachey, T. A. Dean, and D. Esler. 2017. Trends and equilibrium density vary among sea otter populations in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Esslinger, G., K. Kloecker, D. Monson, J. Bodkin, B. Weitzman, B. Ballachey, H. Coletti, D. Esler, T. Tinker, J. Tomoleoni, N. LaRoche, and J. Womble. 2021. Dietary patterns and energy intake rates of sea otters recolonizing Glacier Bay. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, March.
- Griffin, K., and H. **Coletti**. 2020. Seabird colonies on the Katmai coast. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Hasan, L., B. Konar, T. Jones, and H. Coletti. 2021. Subtidal habitat mapping in Cook Inlet for current and predictive sea otter habitat associations. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Holderied, K., M. Renner, A. Jyzk, D. Hondolero, and B. Weitzman. 2021. Speed dating through meroplankton? Linking ocean and nearshore ecosystems in Kachemak Bay, Alaska. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Hondolero, D., T. Bell, B. Weitzman, and K. Holderied. 2020. Kelp forest mapping in Kachemak Bay, Alaska using a drone. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Iken, K., and B. Konar. Nearshore Gulf Watch Alaska monitoring in Kachemak Bay. Oral Presentation. Kachemak Bay Science Conference, Homer, March.
- Iken, K., and B. Konar. 2018. Freezing in a warming climate? Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.

- Iken, K., and B. Konar. 2018. Nearshore Gulf Watch Alaska monitoring in Kachemak Bay. Poster Presentation. Kachemak Bay Science Conference, Homer, March.
- Iken K., B. Konar, D. Esler, B. Weitzman, H. Coletti, D. Monson, B. Ballachey, T. Dean, and J. Bodkin. 2017. Spatial variability in mussel size frequency distribution in the Gulf of Alaska. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Kloecker, K.A., D. H. Monson, B. Robinson, H. A. Coletti, B. E. Ballachey, and D. Esler. 2017. Correlates between sea otter diet and prey energetics in a mussel-specialist population. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Konar, B., K. Iken, H. Coletti, T. Dean, D. Esler, B. Weitzman, K. Kloecker, and M. Lindeberg. 2017. Trends in intertidal sea star abundance and diversity across the Gulf of Alaska: looking for effects of sea star wasting. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Konar, B., K. Iken, H. Coletti, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Kloecker, M. Lindeberg, B. Pister, and B. Weitzman. 2018. Trends in intertidal sea star abundance and diversity across the Gulf of Alaska: effects of sea star wasting. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Konar, B., K. Iken, H. Coletti, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Kloecker, M. Lindeberg, B. Pister, and B. Weitzman. 2018. Trends in intertidal sea star abundance and diversity across the Gulf of Alaska: effects of sea star wasting. Oral Presentation. Ocean Sciences Meeting, Portland, February.
- Konar, B., K. Iken, H. Coletti, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Kloecker, M. Lindeberg, B. Pister, and B. Weitzman. 2018. Trends in intertidal sea star abundance and diversity across the Gulf of Alaska: effects of sea star wasting. Oral Presentation. Kachemak Bay Science Conference, Homer, March.
- Kurtz, D., D. Esler, T. Jones, B. Weitzman, and B. Robinson. 2019. Spatial and temporal patterns in nearshore physical oceanography in tidewater glacial fjords. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Lindeberg, M., K. Holderied, D. Aderhold, K. Hoffman, M. Arimitsu, H. Coletti, and R. Hopcroft. 2017. Gulf Watch Alaska: Results from five years of ecosystem monitoring in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Lindeberg, M., R. Suryan, D. Aderhold, K. Hoffman, R. Hopcroft, H. Coletti, Y. Arimitsu. 2021. Gulf Watch Alaska: Building partnerships to understand ecosystem change. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.

- Martyn, P., D. **Monson**, H. **Coletti**, A. Miller, and D. **Esler**. 2018. Using small unmanned aircraft systems (sUAS) to map intertidal topography in Katmai National Park and Preserve, Alaska. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Mearns, A., D. Janka, S. Pegau, and B. Robinson. 2021. Inter-annual and longterm variability of rocky intertidal biota at selected sites in Prince William Sound, 1989 to 2020. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Monson, D., K. Holderied, R. Campbell, S. Danielson, R. Hopcroft, B. Ballachey, J. Bodkin, H. Coletti, T. Dean, K. Iken, K. Kloecker, B. Konar, M. Lindeberg, B. Robinson, B. Weitzman, and R. Suryan. 2018. Congruence of intertidal and pelagic water and air temperatures during an anomalously warm period in the northern Gulf of Alaska; "The Blob" washes ashore. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Monson, D., R. Taylor, G. Hilderbrand, J. Erlenbach, and H. Coletti. 2019. Top-level carnivores linked across the marine / terrestrial interface: sea otter haulouts offer a unique foraging opportunity to brown bears. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Monson, D., M. T. Tinker, H. Coletti, G. Esslinger, J. Bodkin, S. Larson, and D. Esler. 2021. Effects of limited dispersal by sea otters on populations dynamics: relevance to the threatened Southwest Alaska distinct population segment. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Monson, D. H., B. P. Weitzman, K. A. Kloecker, D. Esler, L. A. Sztukowsi, S. A. Sethi, H. A. Coletti, and T. Hollmen. 2017. Understanding trophic relationships of sea otters and their effects on demographic attributes. Oral Presentation. Sea Otter Conservation Workshop, Seattle, March.
- Parrish, J. K., H. Burgess, T. Jones, J. Lindsey, A. Lestenkof, B. Bodenstein, B. Mangipane, E. Labunski, E. Lujan, H. Coletti, H. Renner, J. Christensen, J. Piatt, K. Hilwig, K. Lewandowski, K. Plentnikoff, K. Lefebvre, K. Kuletz, K. Griffin, L. Divine, L. Wilson, M. Romano, M. Cady, M. Good, M. Brubaker, N. Graff, N. Stellrecht, P. Lestenkof, P. Fitzmorris, P. Melovidov, R. Kaler, R. Corcoran, S. Schoen, S. Backensto, S. Knowles, S. Thomas, T. Mullet, C. Wright, A. Will and T. Lewis. 2020. Unabated mass mortality of marine birds in the northeast Pacific. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Piatt, J., T. Jones, K. Kuletz, H. Renner, J. Parish, R. Corcoran, S. Schoen, B. Bodenstein, R. Kaler, M. Garcia-Reyes, H. Coletti, M. Arimitsu, R. Duerr, K. Lindquist, J. Lindsey, and W. Sydeman. 2018. Unprecedented scale of seabird mortality in the NE Pacific during

the 2015-2016 marine heatwave. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.

- **Robinson**, B., H. **Coletti**, B. **Ballachey**, J. **Bodkin**, G. **Esslinger**, and D. **Esler**. 2021. Spatial and temporal variation in nearshore marine bird communities in a warming Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Bird Conference, Homer, November.
- Sethi, S., K. Iken, B. Konar, and H. Coletti. 2018. Regional and local drivers combine to structure mussel growth and mortality. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Siegert, D., K. Iken, B. Konar, S. Saupe, and M. Lindeberg. 2018. Nearshore food web structure in two contrasting regions of Cook Inlet. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Siegert, D., K. Iken, S. Saupe, and M. Lindeberg. 2018. Nearshore food web structure in two contrasting regions of Cook Inlet. Oral Presentation. Coastal Marine Institute Annual Review, Anchorage, January.
- Siegert, D., K. Iken, S. Saupe, and M. Lindeberg. 2018. Nearshore food web structure in two contrasting regions of Cook Inlet. Poster Presentation. Kachemak Bay Science Conference, Homer, March.
- Siegert, D., K. Iken, S. Saupe, and M. Lindeberg. 2019. Comparison of intertidal food web structure between two regions of lower Cook Inlet. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Siegert, D., K. Iken, S. Saupe, and M. Lindeberg. 2019. Comparing intertidal food web and community structure across two regions of lower Cook Inlet. Oral Presentation. CMI Annual Review, Anchorage, February.
- Suryan, R. M., M. R. Lindeberg, M. Arimitsu, H. Coletti, R. R. Hopcroft, D. Aderhold, and K. Hoffman. 2020. Ecosystem response to a prolonged marine heatwave in the Gulf of Alaska. Perspectives from Gulf Watch Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Sztukowski, L. A., D. H. Monson, D. Esler, S. A. Sethi, H. A. Coletti, B. P. Weitzman, K. A. Kloecker, and T. E. Hollmen. 2017. Nearshore marine consumer responses to changing prey conditions: combining quantitative and qualitative model input into a conceptual framework. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Traiger, S. B., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, B. Ballachey, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Konar, M. R. Lindeberg, B. Robinson, R. M. Suryan, and B. Weitzman. 2020. How the mighty have fallen: Indirect effects of sea star wasting syndrome on mussel

abundance in the Northern Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Western Society of Naturalists, November.

- Traiger, S. B., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, B. Ballachey, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Konar, M. R. Lindeberg, B. Robinson, R. M. Suryan, and B. Weitzman. 2021. How the mighty have fallen: Indirect effects of sea star wasting syndrome on mussel abundance in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Traiger, S. B., J. L. Bodkin, H. A. Coletti, B. Ballachey, T. Dean, D. Esler, K. Iken, B. Konar, M. R. Lindeberg, B. Robinson, R. M. Suryan, B. Weitzman. 2021. How the mighty have fallen: Indirect effects of sea star wasting syndrome on mussel abundance in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Kachemak Bay Science Symposium, Homer, March.
- Weitzman, B. et al. 2018. Can you dig it? Patterns of variability in clam assemblages across the Gulf of Alaska. Kachemak Bay Science Conference, Homer, March.
- Weitzman, B. 2019. Can you dig it? Patterns of variability in clam assemblages across the Gulf of Alaska. Oral presentation. UAF College of Fisheries and Ocean Sciences Special Seminar, Fairbanks, February.
- Weitzman, B. P., D. Esler, H. A. Coletti, B. Konar, T. A. Dean, J. L. Bodkin, K. Iken, A. K. Fukuyama, G. Shigenaka, and D. Lees. 2017. Can you dig it? Patterns of variability in clam assemblages within mixed-sediment habitats across the Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.
- Weitzman, B. 2018. Assessing drivers of variability in macroinvertebrate abundance and productivity across the northeast Pacific. UAF College of Fisheries and Ocean Sciences Special Seminar, April.
- Weitzman, B., D. Esler, H. Coletti, B. Konar, and K. Iken. 2018. Can you dig it? Patterns of variability in clam assemblages within mixed-sediment habitats across the Gulf of Alaska. Oral Presentation. Kachemak Bay Science Conference, Homer, March.
- Weitzman, B., B. Konar, K. Iken, H. Coletti, D. Monson, R. Suryan, T. Dean, D. Hondolero, and M. Lindeberg. 2021. Baked Alaska: Changes in rocky intertidal community structure during a marine heatwave in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Kachemak Bay Science Symposium, Homer, March.
- Williamson, E., B. Konar, K. Iken, and M. K. McCabe. 2020. Size frequency distribution of *Mytilus trossulus* in Kachemak Bay. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.

Zhang, B., B. Konar, B. Weitzman, H. Coletti, and D. Esler. 2020. Associating clam recruitment with adult standing stock in the northern Gulf of Alaska. Poster Presentation. Alaska Marine Science Symposium, Anchorage, January.

Outreach

- Baxter, A. 2019. As some sea star populations make a comeback, scientists may have found a cause of "wasting disease". KTOO-Juneau, <u>https://alaskapublic.org/2019/06/05/as-some-sea-star-populations-make-a-comeback-scientists-may-have-found-cause-of-wasting-disease/</u>.
- Bolton, A. 2017. Can sea stars make a comeback in Kachemak Bay? KBBI-Homer, https://www.ktoo.org/2017/08/15/can-sea-stars-make-comeback-kachemak-bay/.
- Coletti, H. 2021. Detecting and inferring cause of change in an Alaska nearshore marine ecosystem. OLE (Opportunities for Lifelong Education) Class: National Parks of Alaska. Presentation.
- **Coletti**, H. 2021. Detecting and inferring cause of change in an Alaska nearshore marine ecosystem. Presentation to the Alyeska oiled wildlife training program.
- Corliss, K. 2022. Otoliths and marine food webs. BEST Homeschool Presentation.
- Gulf Watch Alaska Nearshore Team. 2018. Port Graham Native Corporation listening session, May 18th, 2018: Public discussion with elders. Port Graham, AK
- Gulf Watch Alaska Nearshore Team. 2019. Seldovia Community Science Presentations: Gulf Watch Alaska and associated project updates in Kachemak Bay and the Gulf of Alaska.
- Hempsted, C. 2019. Seattle Aquarium biologist's blog documenting a Gulf Watch Alaska trip to Katmai NPP: <u>https://www.seattleaquarium.org/blog/research-southwest-alaska-1</u>
- Konar, B., and K. Iken Lab. 2017. UAF Science Potpourri, April 2017: Public outreach event. Fairbanks, AK
- Krakow, M. 2020. A killer whale was headed toward a sea otter in Kachemak Bay. Then the otter hopped on a boat and stayed there. Anchorage Daily News, August 26. <u>https://www.adn.com/alaska-news/wildlife/2020/08/26/a-killer-whale-was-headed-toward-a-sea-otter-in-kachemak-bay-then-the-otter-hopped-on-a-boat-and-stayed-there/.</u>
- NOAA-NCCOS. 2019. "State of Kachemak Bay" 2019. <u>https://cdn.coastalscience.noaa.gov/projects-</u> <u>attachments/396/StateofKachemakBay_2019Highlights.pdf</u>.

- NOAA-NCCOS. 2020. "State of Kachemak Bay" 2020. <u>https://cdn.coastalscience.noaa.gov/projects-</u> attachments/369/2020 StateofKachemakBay HighRes Finalv8.pdf.
- NOAA-NCCOS. 2021 "State of Kachemak Bay" 2021. https://cdn.coastalscience.noaa.gov/projectsattachments/369/KachemakBay_StateoftheBay2021.pdf.
- NOAA-NCCOS. 2021. Sea Otter Story Map. https://arcg.is/04eTmO.
- NPS. 2018. Mussel Abundance in the Gulf of Alaska. https://www.nps.gov/articles/musselabundance.htm.
- NPS. 2018. Sea Otter Monitoring in Southwest Alaska. NPS Resource Brief. https://www.nps.gov/articles/sea-otter-swan-parks.htm.
- NPS. 2018. What do Black Oystercatcher chicks eat? https://www.nps.gov/articles/bloychickdiet.htm.
- NPS. 2019. Future Directions in Sea Otter Research and Management. https://www.nps.gov/articles/seaotterresearchmanagement.htm.
- NPS. 2019. Improving Mussel Monitoring. https://www.nps.gov/articles/musselgenes.htm.
- NPS. 2019. Sea Star Assemblages Changed After Wasting Disease. https://www.nps.gov/articles/seastarchanges.htm.
- NPS. 2020. How Marine Heatwaves and Changing Ocean Ecosystems. https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/heatwavestorymap.htm.
- NPS. 2020. Marine Heatwave linked to Seabird Die-off. https://www.nps.gov/articles/blametheblob.htm.
- NPS. 2020. Monitoring Nearshore Marine Systems. 2020. NPS Resource Brief. https://www.nps.gov/articles/nearshore2020.htm.
- NPS. 2020. Monitoring Razor Clams as an Indicator of Nearshore Ecosystem Health. https://www.nps.gov/articles/razorclams.htm.
- NPS. 2021. Effects Continue from the Pacific Marine Heatwave. https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/marineheatwaveimpacts.htm.
- NPS. 2021. NPS AK Seabird die-off page with links to videos and story maps as well as annual summaries: <u>https://www.nps.gov/subjects/aknatureandscience/alaskaseabirddieoffs.htm.</u>

- NPS. 2021. Using Gene Expression to Investigate Differences Between Clam Populations. https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/clamgenes.htm.
- NPS. 2021. Why did the southwest Alaska sea otter population collapse? https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/swakseaottercollapse.htm.
- **Robinson**, B. 2019. Movement, migration, monitoring: The Black Oystercatcher. Gulf Watch Alaska Public Outreach Event. Homer, AK. Presentation.
- Traiger, S. 2021. Mussels are thriving; Thank your (un)lucky stars. 2021-2022 Delta Sound Connections. <u>https://pwssc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/DSC-2021-LR.pdf</u>.
- Traiger, S. 2021. A tale of two nearshore disturbances. State of Kachemak Bay Report. <u>https://cdn.coastalscience.noaa.gov/projects-</u> attachments/369/KachemakBay_StateoftheBay2021.pdf.
- Weitzman, B. 2018. Unhappy as a clam? 2018-2019 Delta Sound Connections. https://pwssc.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/DSC-2018-FINAL_WEB.pdf.
- Weitzman, B. 2018. Sea otter biology and ecology across the north Pacific. Glacier Bay National Park Service, Ranger Training Series, April.
- Weitzman, B. et al. 2019. Kachemak Bay National Estuarine Research Reserve Lecture Series: Sea otter and clam population dynamics in Kachemak Bay, Homer, AK.
- Weitzman, B. 2019. Monitoring Coastal Ecosystems in the Gulf of Alaska. Fireweed Academy Lecture, Homer, AK, December.

APPENDIX A

The Nearshore component of the Gulf Watch Alaska program collects data on more than 200 species at four study regions (Katmai National Park and Preserve [KATM], Kachemak Bay [KBAY], Kenai Fjords National Park [KEFJ], and western Prince William Sound [WPWS] that were affected by the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. Data are collected collaboratively by numerous federal agencies (National Park Service, US Geological Survey [USGS], US Fish and Wildlife Service, and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration [NOAA]) and the University of Alaska Fairbanks. Data are permanently archived based on requirements of the agency or organization responsible for primary data collection and/or analysis and the *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council. The table below summarizes the permanently archived data. Detailed metadata for each dataset may be found at the data archive location.

Metric	Permanent archive	Digital object identifier (doi)	Regions represented	Additional information
Intertidal temperature	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F7WH2N3T	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, WPWS	Intertidal air and water temperature data collected at all four study regions; dates range from 2006-2022; the doi includes one file for each year, region, and study block
Rocky intertidal	DataONE	https://doi.org/10.24431/rw1k1o	KBAY	Rocky intertidal data collected at study blocks in each of the four regions; start dates for data collection vary between 2006 and 2020 and end in 2022; data for the KBAY region are archived with DataONE and the other regions are archived with the USGS data repository; the archives each include data on intertidal seaweed cover, motile invertebrates, limpets, and sea stars
	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F7513WCB	KATM, KEFJ, WPWS	

Metric	Permanent archive	Digital object identifier (doi)	Regions represented	Additional information
Soft sediment bivalves	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F71834N0	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, WPWS	Soft sediment bivalve data at study blocks in all four regions beginning in 2007 and ending in 2021; the archive includes data on soft sediment sites and bivalve species, size, and counts
Eelgrass	DataONE	https://doi.org/10.24431/rw1k1o	KBAY	Eelgrass bed data collected at study blocks in the Kachemak Bay region from 2012 to 2022; the archive includes data on eelgrass shoot density; eelgrass bed data collected 2008-2016 at other regions are not archived
Mussels	DataONE	https://doi.org/10.24431/rw1k1o	KBAY	Mussel bed data collected at study blocks in all four regions beginning in 2008 (KATM, KEFJ, and WPWS) or 2012 (KPAX) and anding in 2022; data for the
	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F7FN1498	KATM, KEFJ, WPWS	KBAY region are archived with DataONE and the other regions are archived with the USGS data repository; the archives each include data on mussel bed sites and counts and sizes
Mussel contaminants	NOAA data repository	https://doi.org/10.25923/dbyq-7z17	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, WPWS	A suite of chemical contaminants measured in mussel tissue from all 4 study regions, collected during 2007 to 2018. Archived data are reported as tissue concentrations;

Metric	Permanent archive	Digital object identifier (doi)	Regions represented	Additional information
				report includes other areas in Alaska for contrasts.
Marine bird and mammal surveys	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F7416V6H	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ	Marine bird and mammal survey data collected in KATM, KBAY, and KEFJ beginning in 2006 (summer) or 2008 (winter) and ending in 2021; the archive includes data on summer and winter transects, species observations, and densities
Black oystercatchers	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F7WH2N5Q	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, WPWS	Black oyster catcher data collected in all four regions 2006-2021; archive includes data on transects, nest details, egg stage, and chick diet
Sea otters	USGS data repository	https://doi.org/10.5066/F7H993CZ	KATM, KEFJ, WPWS	Sea otter mortality data collected in KATM, KEFJ, and WPWS, 2006-2021
		https://doi.org/10.5066/F7N29V4R	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, WPWS	Sea otter foraging observations collected in all four regions, 2006-2021
		https://doi.org/10.5066/P9EDM6NL	KATM, KBAY, KEFJ, WPWS	Sea otter spraint data collected in all four regions, 2006-2021
		https://doi.org/10.5066/P9Q4DA3T	KBAY	Sea otter surveys conducted in lower Cook Inlet, including KBAY, in 2017

Metric	Permanent archive	Digital object identifier (doi)	Regions represented	Additional information
		https://doi.org/10.5066/F7930SG7	KATM	Sea otter surveys conducted in KATM, 2008-2019
		https://doi.org/10.5066/F7CJ8BN7	KEFJ	Sea otter surveys conducted in KEFJ, 2002-2016
		https://doi.org/10.5066/P9OG6SR5		Sea otter survey conducted in northern and eastern Prince William Sound in 2014
		https://doi.org/10.5066/P9TTJVBC	KEFJ	Sea otter survey conducted in outer Kenai Peninsula, including KEFJ, in 2019
		https://doi.org/10.5066/P9KNKOG1	WPWS	Sea otter survey conducted in WPWS in 2017